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Interim Report _____ 2022 - Austrian Post 

Revenue 
_ H1 revenue down by 4.0 % year-on-year to EUR 1,211.8m, decrease in Parcel (–8.9 %) and Mail (–1.4 %) 

_ Improved trend in Q2: –0.8 % to EUR 610.4m, parcel decline of 5.1 % and growth in the mail business of 1.1 % 

Earnings 
_ Decline in H1 earnings (EBIT) to EUR 91.0m from EUR 103.4m; Q2 from EUR 43.7m to EUR 51.4m 

_ Earnings per share down from EUR 1.18 to EUR 0.83 

Cash flow and balance sheet 
_ Operating free cash flow of EUR 105.8m and equity of EUR 640.7m  

Outlook 2022 
_ 2022 revenue targeted as close as possible to prior-year level (2021 revenue: EUR 2.5bn)  

_ Expected EBIT 2022 within the range of 2021 (EUR 205m) and 2020 (EUR 161m) 

Key Figures   
EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022 Change

    

EARNINGS FIGURES    

Revenue 1,262.61 1,211.8 –4.0 %

EBITDA 184.5 179.4 –2.7 %

EBITDA margin 14.6 % 14.8 % –

EBIT 103.4 91.0 –12.0 %

EBIT margin 8.2 % 7.5 % –

Profit for the period 84.2 54.8 –34.9 %

Earnings per share (EUR)2 1.18 0.83 –29.4 %

Employees (average for the period, full-time equivalents) 27,489 27,144 –1.3 %

     

CASH FLOW AND CAPEX    

Gross cash flow3 227.4 161.9 –28.8 %

Cash flow from operating activities 281.5 45.0 –84.0 %

Cash flow from financing activities –144.6 –66.2 54.2 %

Operating free cash flow4 139.1 105.8 –23.9 %

CAPEX 47.0 58.7 24.9 %

     

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022 Change

    

BALANCE SHEET FIGURES    

Total assets 4,792.6 5,157.8 7.6 %

Equity 672.2 640.7 –4.7 %

Equity ratio 14.0 % 12.4 % -

Net debt5 663.4 813.3 22.6 %

Capital employed5 1,126.9 1,226.1 8.8 %

1 The presentation of financial services in the consolidated income statement has been adjusted. Income from financial services is recognised under revenue, while expenses from 

financial services are reported separately (previously income and expenses from financial services were presented net under revenue). 
2 Undiluted earnings per share in relation to 67,552,638 shares 
3 The presentation of the provision of financial services has been adjusted. Interest from financial services were reported separately as part of cash flow from operating activities. 
4 Free cash flow before acquisitions/securities/money market investments, growth CAPEX and core banking assets 
5 bank99 was not included in the calculation, as this key figure is only relevant for the logistics business in terms of content. 

H1 2022 Highlights  
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Statement by the Management Board

Dear Shareholders, 

The first half of 2022 for Austrian Post was shaped by very challenging conditions. Interruptions in international 

value chains have put an upward pressure on costs intensified by the war in Ukraine. This backdrop and the extraordinarily 

high parcel volumes in the prior-year quarters make it for a challenging start into 2022. However, volume development on 

the Austrian parcel market showed an improved trend, with only a 1 % decline in the second quarter compared with a 9 % in 

the first one. 

Group revenue in the first half-year 2022 totalled EUR 1,211.8m (–4.0 %), whereas second-quarter revenue showed 

an improved trend, with revenue down by only 0.8 %. In particular, the parcel business in Turkey was strongly impacted due to 

inflation and currency effects compared with an extraordinarily successful year in 2021. When excluding Parcel Turkey, how-

ever, Group revenue increased by 0.1 % in the first half of 2022. The Mail Division reported a revenue decrease of 1.4 % in the 

first six months of the year and Parcel & Logistics revenue fell by 8.9 % in total but only by 0.8 % excluding Parcel Turkey. In 

contrast, the Retail & Bank Division developed positively, generating a 49.3 % revenue increase to EUR 54.2m in the first six 

months of 2022. 

The key earnings figures in the first half of 2022 were also considerably below the prior-year level, although there 

was an improvement in the second quarter. EBITDA of the first half-year fell by 2.7 % to EUR 179.4m, whereas earnings be-

fore interest and tax (EBIT) declined by 12.0 % year-on-year from EUR 103.4m to EUR 91.0m. 

The difficult business environment is expected to continue into the second half of the year. There is also the risk that 

the energy market will remain unpredictable and that the gas supply in parts of Europe is not secure. Austrian Post aims to 

address these unfavourable conditions in terms of both revenue and costs. For this reason, price adjustments are just as 

necessary as efficiency improvements in internal processes. Assuming a continuation of sufficient energy and gas supply in 

Europe, the company continues its efforts to generate revenue in 2022 as close to the level of 2021 as possible. From to-

day’s perspective, Group earnings (EBIT) in 2022 should be in the range of the results reported in the last two years (2021 

EBIT: EUR 205m; 2020 EBIT: EUR 161m). The ambition of the company remains to get as close as possible to the 2021 level. 

The underlying prerequisite is predictability of gas and energy supply in Austrian Post’s markets.  

The planned investment programme designed to expand the logistics infrastructure and ensure a sustainable vehicle 

fleet will be basically continued. Individual investments are being assessed to ensure adherence to all profitability targets. 

By putting the expanded capacities of the parcel logistics centre in Upper Austria into operation in September 2022, the 

sorting capacities at this site can be significantly expanded. This means total capacity of 131,000 parcels per hour sorted in 

our logistics centres throughout Austria. The capacities were made just as fit for 2030 as the conversion of our vehicle fleet 

to CO2-free delivery. 

 

 

Vienna, 2 August 2022 

 

The Management Board 

 

 

 
 

 
GEORG PÖLZL 

CEO 

Chairman of the 

Management Board 

WALTER OBLIN 

Deputy CEO 

Mail & Finance (CFO)  

PETER UMUNDUM 

Member of the  

Management Board 

Parcel & Logistics (COO) 

Statement by the 
Management Board 
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1. Business Development and 
Economic Situation   

1.1 Changes to the scope of consolidation 

No major changes in the scope of consolidation 

took place in the first half of 2022. A complete presenta-

tion of all changes in the scope of consolidation can be 

found in Note 3 of the Interim Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 

1.2 Revenue and Earnings 

1.2.1 REVENUE DEVELOPMENT 

In the first half of 2022, Austrian Post’s Group rev-

enue decreased by 4.0 % year-on-year to EUR 1,211.8m. 

However, the second quarter showed an improved trend, 

with revenue down by only 0.8 %. In particular, the parcel 

business in Turkey was strongly impacted by inflation and 

currency effects following an extraordinarily successful 

year in 2021. Half-year revenue has increased by 0.1 % 

without accounting for the Turkish business (Parcel Tur-

key).  

The Mail Division reported a 1.4 % drop in revenue 

in the first six months of the 2022 financial year, whereas 

revenue of the Parcel & Logistics Division fell by 8.9 %, or 

0.8 % excluding the business in Turkey (Parcel Turkey). In 

contrast, the Retail & Bank Division developed positively, 

showing a 49.3 % revenue increase to EUR 54.2m in the 

first six months of 2022.  

The Mail Division generated 48.9 % of Austrian 

Post’s revenue in the first half of 2022. The 1.4 % revenue 

decrease can be attributed to structural decline of ad-

dressed letter mail volumes due to electronic substitution 

and lower international mail volumes. This contrasted with 

positive special effects on traditional letter mail volumes 

and catch-up effects in the direct mail business which had 

suffered during the lockdown periods.  

The Parcel & Logistics Division accounted for 

46.7 % of Group revenue. In particular, the Turkish parcel 

business showed a decline compared to the successful 

business development in the previous year due to the cur-

rent market situation (inflation and currency effects). Par-

cel revenue in Austria fell by 1.9 % year-on-year compared 

to a 6.3 % revenue increase generated in Southeast and 

Eastern Europe. The Logistics Solution business showed a 

stable development. 

The Retail & Bank Division generated a 4.4 % share 

of total revenue in the first half-year 2022, with revenue 

of EUR 54.2m or 49.3 %. In December 2021, the retail 

business of ING was acquired. This produced positive ef-

fects in the net interest and commission income of 

bank99.  

 

 
 

Revenue Development

EUR m

982.6

1,262.6 1,211.8.

H1 20201
— H1 20211

—

–4.0%

H1 2022—

Group Management Report  
for the First Half of 2022 

1 Adjusted presentation 
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Revenue by Division 

    Change   

EUR m H1 20211 H1 2022 % EUR m Q2 20211 Q2 2022

       

REVENUE 1,262.6 1,211.8 –4.0 % –50.9 615.6 610.4 

Mail 608.2 599.5 –1.4 % –8.7 297.3 300.7 

Parcel & Logistics 628.1 572.0 –8.9 % –56.0 304.4 288.9 

Retail & Bank 36.3 54.2 49.3 % 17.9 18.6 27.7 

Corporate/Consolidation –9.9 –14.0 –40.5 % –4.0 –4.6 –6.9 

Working days in Austria 123 124 – – 61 61 

1 The presentation of financial services in the consolidated income statement has been adjusted. Income from financial services is recognised under revenue, while expenses from 

financial services are reported separately (previously, income and expenses from financial services were presented net under revenue). 

 

From a regional perspective, Austrian Post gener-

ated 81.8 % of its Group revenue in Austria in the first half 

of 2022. Its international business accounted for 18.2 % of 

the total Group revenue in the first half of 2022. Thereof, 

Turkey accounted for 8.9 %, whereas the region of South-

east and Eastern Europe contributed 7.0 % of Group reve-

nue. 2.3 % of the revenue was generated in Germany.

 

 

Revenue Development of the Mail Division 

    Change   

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022 % EUR m Q2 2021 Q2 2022

       

REVENUE 608.2 599.5 –1.4 % –8.7 297.3 300.7 

Letter Mail & Business Solutions 391.9 375.3 –4.2 % –16.7 186.4 187.7 

Direct Mail 157.6 161.7 2.6 % 4.1 81.0 80.2 

Media Post 58.7 62.6 6.5 % 3.8 29.9 32.8 

Revenue intra-Group 1.4 1.9 34.6 % 0.5 0.6 0.9 

TOTAL REVENUE 609.6 601.4 –1.3 % –8.2 297.9 301.6 

thereof revenue with third parties 603.8 594.0 –1.6 % –9.9 294.3 298.2 

 

Revenue of the Mail Division totalled EUR 599.5m 

in the first half of 2022, of which 62.6 % can be attributed 

to the Letter Mail & Business Solutions area. Direct Mail 

accounted for 27.0 % of total divisional revenue, and Me-

dia Post had a 10.4 % share. 

In the first half of 2022, Letter Mail & Business So-

lutions revenue amounted to EUR 375.3m, implying a 

Revenue by Division

%

H1 2022

Mail

48.9

Parcel & Logistics

46.7

Revenue by Region

%

H1 2022

Austria

81.8
International

18.2

Retail & Bank

4.4
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year-on-year decrease of 4.2 %. The basic downward vol-

ume trend resulting from the substitution of letters by 

electronic forms of communication continued. However, 

the second quarter of 2022 was characterised by positive 

special effects related to one-off mailings from public au-

thorities and energy suppliers. In the current reporting pe-

riod, operating letter mail volumes were down by 3 % from 

the first half of 2021 and showed an increase of 1 % when 

including the special effects. Further development will 

also be impacted by the difficult environment. Inflation-

related price increases for fuel, energy and staff costs 

must be taken into consideration. In turn, this led to nec-

essary adjustments in postal rates: A rate adjustment for 

Economy Letters took place on 1 July 2022 and Priority 

Letters will be adjusted as of 1 October 2022. Interna-

tional letter mail also showed a volume decline, whereas 

the Business Solutions area reported a stable develop-

ment.  

Direct Mail revenue increased by 2.6 % year-on-

year to EUR 161.7m in the first half of 2022. The govern-

ment-imposed store closings in response to COVID-19 

had an extremely negative effect on the advertising busi-

ness in the previous year. For this reason, a catch-up ef-

fect is noticeable with respect to direct mail volumes, but 

increased volatility can be expected. The pressure in the 

direct mail business is intensified by higher prices for en-

ergy and paper.  

Revenue from Media Post, i.e., the delivery of 

newspapers and magazines, increased by 6.5 % from the 

prior-year period to EUR 62.6m. This increase can be at-

tributed to additional volumes. 

Revenue Development of the Parcel & Logistics Division 

    Change   

EUR m H1 20211 H1 2022 % EUR m Q2 20211 Q2 2022

       

REVENUE 628.1 572.0 –8.9 % –56.0 304.4 288.9 

Parcel Austria 350.3 343.7 –1.9 % –6.7 167.1 172.8 

Parcel Turkey 160.7 108.2 –32.6 % –52.4 77.9 57.9 

Parcel CEE/SEE 80.5 85.6 6.3 % 5.1 39.6 43.2 

Logistics Solutions/Consolidation 36.5 34.6 –5.4 % –2.0 19.8 15.1 

Revenue intra-Group 0.5 0.3 –31.1 % –0.1 0.2 0.2 

TOTAL REVENUE 628.5 572.4 –8.9 % –56.2 304.6 289.1 

thereof revenue with third parties 621.3 562.7 –9.4 % –58.6 302.3 284.0 

1 Adjusted presentation 

 

Revenue disclosure in the Parcel & Logistics Divi-

sion has been adjusted. The revenue breakdown in parcel 

logistics now incorporates revenue presentation on a re-

gional basis along with additional logistics services. The 

comparative figures of the previous year were adapted. 

Revenue of the Parcel & Logistics Division fell by 

8.9 % in the first half of 2022 to EUR 572.0m. This sharp 

decrease is attributable mainly to the parcel business in 

Turkey. Turkish revenue in the local currency of the ongo-

ing profitable subsidiary rose by 23 % (after valuation 

IAS 29 hyperinflation) in the first half-year, but a decline 

of 32.6 % had to be reported in euro (–25.7 % in the second 

quarter of 2022).  

Parcel Austria also experienced a 1.9 % revenue 

decline in the first half of 2022. Parcel volumes have now 

entered a phase of normalisation following extraordinarily 

strong volume growth in the prior-year periods (first half-

year 2021 +20 %, first half-year 2020 +36 %). However, the 

trend improved with second-quarter revenue up by 3.4 %. 

The parcel business in Southeast and Eastern Eu-

rope continues to generate growth rates, with revenue up 

by 6.3 % to EUR 85.6m in the first six months of 2022 

(+8.9 % in the second quarter of 2022). 

Revenue of the Logistics Solutions area (incl. Con-

solidation), which provides special logistics services such 

as the transport of COVID-19 test kits, fell by 5.4 % to 

EUR 34.6m in the period under review. Positive special ef-

fects relating to logistics services in the previous year 

were reduced in the current reporting period.  
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Revenue Development of the Retail & Bank Division 

    Change   

EUR m H1 20211 H1 2022 % EUR m Q2 20211 Q2 2022

       

REVENUE 36.3 54.2 49.3 % 17.9 18.6 27.7 

Branch Services 21.5 18.7 –12.7 % –2.7 10.9 9.7 

Income from Financial Services 14.8 35.4 >100 % 20.6 7.6 18.0 

Revenue intra-Group 90.4 93.7 3.7 % 3.3 44.5 47.1 

TOTAL REVENUE 126.6 147.8 16.7 % 21.2 63.0 74.8 

thereof revenue with third parties 36.1 54.0 49.4 % 17.8 18.5 27.6 

1 The presentation of financial services in the consolidated income statement has been adjusted. Income from financial services is recognised under revenue, while expenses from 

financial services are reported separately (previously, income and expenses from financial services were presented net under revenue). 

 

Revenue of the Retail & Bank Division improved by 

49.3 % in the first half of 2022 to EUR 54.2m from the 

prior-year level of EUR 36.3m. Branch Services revenue 

fell by 12.7 %, from EUR 21.5m to EUR 18.7m, in the pe-

riod under review. Income from Financial Services at the 

amount of EUR 35.4m in the first half of 2022 showed 

strong growth due to the acquisition of the retail business 

of ING at the end of 2021. As of the beginning of Au-

gust 2022, bank99 already has 250,000 customers.
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Financial Performance of the Group 

    Change   

EUR m H1 20211 H1 2022 % EUR m Q2 20211 Q2 2022

       

REVENUE 1,262.6 1,211.8 –4.0 % –50.9 615.6 610.4 

Other operating income 43.1 59.2 37.4 % 16.1 20.9 30.8 

Raw materials, consumables and services 

used –355.0 –349.4 1.6 % 5.6 –169.5 –173.8 

Expenses for financial services –2.3 –6.4 <-100 % –4.1 –1.3 –3.2 

Staff costs –587.6 –571.8 2.7 % 15.7 –284.1 –283.9 

Other operating expenses –176.8 –165.1 6.6 % 11.7 –96.3 –83.2 

Results from financial assets accounted 

for using the equity method 0.4 0.1 –81.7 % –0.3 0.1 –0.1 

Net monetary gain 0.0 1.1 >100 % 1.1 0.0 1.1 

EBITDA 184.5 179.4 –2.7 % –5.0 85.5 98.2 

Depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment losses –81.1 –88.4 –9.1 % –7.4 –41.8 –46.8 

EBIT 103.4 91.0 –12.0 % –12.4 43.7 51.4 

Financial result 4.7 –13.5 <-100 % –18.2 2.3 –14.6 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 108.1 77.5 –28.3 % –30.6 45.9 36.8 

Income tax –23.9 –22.7 5.2 % 1.2 –11.7 –12.5 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 84.2 54.8 –34.9 % –29.4 34.3 24.3 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:         

Shareholders of the parent company 79.7 56.3 –29.4 % –23.5 31.6 25.4 

Non-controlling interests 4.4 –1.5 <–100 % –5.9 2.6 –1.1 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EUR)2 1.18 0.83 –29.4 % –0.35 0.47 0.38 

1 The presentation of financial services in the consolidated income statement has been adjusted. Income from financial services is recognised under revenue, while expenses from 

financial services are reported separately (previously, income and expenses from financial services were presented net under revenue). 
2 Undiluted earnings per share in relation to 67,552,638 shares 

 

1.2.2 EARNINGS DEVELOPMENT 

The largest expense items in relation to Austrian 

Post’s Group revenue are staff costs (47.2 %), raw materi-

als, consumables and services used (28.8 %) and other op-

erating expenses (13.6 %). 7.3 % can be attributed to de-

preciation, amortisation and impairment losses and 0.5 % 

to expenses for financial services. 

Staff costs in the first half of 2022 totalled 

EUR 571.8m, implying a decline of 2.7 % or EUR 15.7m. 

Operational staff costs remained stable compared 

to the prior-year period. The Austrian Post Group em-

ployed an average of 27,144 people (full-time equivalents) 

in the first six months of 2022 compared to the average of 

27,489 employees in the prior-year period (–1.3 %). 

In addition to operational staff costs, staff costs of 

Austrian Post also include various non-operating staff-re-

lated expenses such as severance payments and changes 

in provisions, which are primarily related to the specific 

employment situation of civil servant employees at Aus-

trian Post. The net effect from the allocation or reversal of 

provisions in non-operating staff costs in the first half of 

2022 was marginal.  

Raw materials, consumables and services used 

were down by 1.6 % to EUR 349.4m. This decline is mainly 

due to the currency translation of the Turkish lira, which 

resulted in lower expenses in euro year-on-year. At the 

same time, higher fuel and energy costs as well as 

transport services performed by external service provid-

ers had the opposite effect.  

Other operating income increased by 37.4 % in the 

first half of 2022 to EUR 59.2m and is mainly attributed to 

COVID-19 related reimbursements from the Austrian Fed-

eral Government in connection with sick leaves of employ-

ees as well as a positive valuation effect from the put op-

tion liability for the remaining 20 % stake in Aras Kargo. 

Other operating expenses fell by 6.6 % to EUR 165.1m. 

EBITDA amounted to EUR 179.4m in the first half 

of 2022, comprising a decrease of 2.7 % from the prior-

year level of EUR 184.5m. This implies an EBITDA margin 

of 14.8 %. 
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Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 

amounted to EUR 88.4m in the first six months of 2022, 

implying an increase of 9.1 % year-on-year or EUR 7.4m. 

This increase is attributable mainly to investments in new 

sites for the parcel logistics infrastructure. 

Due to the application of the financial reporting 

standard IAS 29 (Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies), all items of the income statement were ad-

justed on the basis of a general price index starting at the 

point in time in which they were initially recorded (thus 

from 1 January 2022). The net monetary gain or loss is 

shown as a separate item in the consolidated income 

statement. For detailed information, refer to Note 5.1 in 

the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements. The net 

monetary gain equalled EUR 1.1m at the end of the sec-

ond quarter of 2022. 

Group EBIT amounted to EUR 91.0m in the first 

half of 2022, compared to EUR 103.4m in the prior-year 

period. The EBIT margin amounted to 7.5 %. The EBIT of 

the first half of 2022 included special effects of 

EUR +10.9m in connection with the Turkish subsidiary 

Aras Kargo (valuation option of remaining 20 %, IAS 29 hy-

perinflation, goodwill impairment). 

The Group’s financial result, which equalled minus 

EUR 13.5m compared to EUR 4.7m in the first half 

of 2021, included negative valuation effects of the option 

obligation for the remaining 20 % stake in Aras Kargo 

amounting to EUR 12.3m. After deducting the income tax 

of EUR 22.7m, the profit for the period for the first six 

months of 2022 amounted to EUR 54.8m, down from 

EUR 84.2m in the prior-year period. This implies undiluted 

earnings per share of EUR 0.83 compared to EUR 1.18 in 

the prior-year period.  

 

EBIT by Division 

    Change    

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022 % EUR m
Margin H1 

20221 Q2 2021 Q2 2022

        

EBIT 103.4 91.0 –12.0 % –12.4 7.5 % 43.7 51.4 

Mail 82.4 82.9 0.6 % 0.5 13.8 % 36.9 41.8 

Parcel & Logistics 59.7 45.5 –23.9 % –14.2 7.9 % 23.8 28.0 

Retail & Bank –27.0 –20.4 24.4 % 6.6 – –8.5 –9.7 

Corporate/Consolidation2 –11.7 –16.9 –44.6 % –5.2 – –8.6 –8.7 

1 Margin of the divisions in relation to total revenue 
2 Includes the intra-Group cost allocation procedure 

 

Group EBIT in the first half of 2022 declined from 

EUR 103.4m to EUR 91.0m and was impacted by the cur-

rent difficult market environment. In particular, the earn-

ings contribution of the Turkish parcel business was re-

duced in the first half of 2022 due to inflation and cur-

rency pressure after an extraordinarily successful 

year 2021.  

From a divisional perspective, the Mail Division 

achieved an EBIT of EUR 82.9m in the first half of 2022, 

compared to EUR 82.4m in the previous year. The good 

revenue development reinforced by special effects from 

one-off mailings led to a positive earnings contribution in 

the division.  

EBITDA

EUR m

112.3

184.5 179.4

H1 2020— H1 2021— H1 2022—

–2.7%

EBIT Profit for the Period

EUR m EUR m

48.2

103.4 91.0

H1 2020— H1 2021— H1 2022—

–12.0%

39.1

84.2 54.8

H1 2020— H1 2021— H1 2022—

–34.9%
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The Parcel & Logistics Division generated an EBIT 

of EUR 45.5m in the first half of 2022, down from 

EUR 59.7m in the prior-year period. This corresponds to a 

year-on-year decrease of EUR 14.2m and is primarily at-

tributable to the difficult business environment in the 

Turkish market. As a result, the earnings contribution of 

the Turkish subsidiary was positive but lower than in the 

previous year.  

The Retail & Bank Division recorded an EBIT of mi-

nus EUR 20.4m in the first half of 2022, compared to mi-

nus EUR 27.0m in the first half of 2021. Accordingly, earn-

ings improved by 24.4 % or EUR 6.6m. The ramp-up of the 

financial services business boosted by the acquisition of 

the retail business of ING at the end of 2021 had a posi-

tive effect, whereas higher integration and IT costs nega-

tively impacted earnings. 

EBIT of the Corporate Division (incl. Consolidation 

and intra-Group cost allocation procedure) moved from 

minus EUR 11.7m to minus EUR 16.9m. The Corporate Di-

vision provides non-operating services which are essential 

for the purpose of administration and financial control of 

the company. In addition to conventional corporate gov-

ernance tasks, these services include the management 

and development of commercial properties not required 

for operations, the management of significant financial in-

vestments, the rendering of IT services, the development 

of new business models and the administration of the In-

ternal Labour Market of Austrian Post. 

 

1.3 Financial Position and Cash Flows 

Balance Sheet Structure by Item 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022
Structure

30 June 2022

    

ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill 1,350.3 1,440.9 27.9 %

Investment property 76.3 78.9 1.5 %

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 8.2 7.6 0.1 %

Inventories, trade and other receivables 519.1 503.7 9.8 %

Other financial assets 37.0 79.0 1.5 %

thereof securities/money market investments 31.4 73.5 –

Financial assets from financial services 2,715.8 2,994.3 58.1 %

Cash and cash equivalents 85.8 53.4 1.0 %

Assets held for sale 0.1 0.0 0.0 %

  4,792.6 5,157.8 100 %

     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Equity 672.2 640.7 12.4 %

Provisions 687.9 638.7 12.4 %

Other financial liabilities 404.4 558.4 10.8 %

Trade and other payables 484.6 487.1 9.4 %

Financial liabilities from financial services 2,543.5 2,833.0 54.9 %

  4,792.6 5,157.8 100 %

 

 

 

1.3.1 BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE 

Austrian Post relies on a solid balance sheet and 

financing structure. Total assets amounted to 

EUR 5,157.8m as at 30 June 2022. On the asset side, 

property, plant and equipment at EUR 1,280.3m consti-

tute one of the largest balance sheet items and included 

right-of-use assets in connection with leases of 

EUR 395.5m. In addition, there were intangible assets and 

goodwill from company acquisitions, which were reported 
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at EUR 160.6m as at 30 June 2022. The balance sheet 

showed receivables totalling EUR 368.9m, including cur-

rent trade receivables of EUR 281.7m. Other financial as-

sets amounted to EUR 79.0m as at 30 June 2022. Finan-

cial assets from financial services totalled EUR 2,994.3m 

at the end of the second quarter of 2022 and result pri-

marily from the business activities of bank99.  

As at 30 June 2022, Austrian Post held securities 

and money market investments amounting to EUR 73.5m 

(excl. bank99) that are included into other financial assets. 

The securities and money market investments held by 

Austrian Post carry an investment grade or comparable 

rating. For this reason, it can be assumed that these as-

sets can be liquidated at short notice. The balance sheet 

shows that Austrian Post had cash and cash equivalents 

of EUR 53.4m as at 30 June 2022. Cash and cash equiva-

lents including money market and securities investments 

and excluding the cash and cash equivalents of bank99 

equalled EUR 126.9m as at 30 June 2022. bank99’s cash 

and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 1,120.6m at the 

balance sheet date of 30 June 2022. Including bank99, 

cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 1,247.5m as 

at 30 June 2022.  

On the equity and liabilities side of the balance 

sheet, equity of Austrian Post Group amounted to 

EUR 640.7m as at 30 June 2022 (implying an equity ratio 

of 12.4 %). The pro forma equity ratio (bank99 accounted 

for using the equity method) equalled 28 % at the end of 

June 2022. Furthermore, provisions of EUR 638.7m are 

shown on the equity and liabilities side at the end of 

June 2022. Nearly 75 % of provisions were staff-related, 

with a total of EUR 193.2m attributable to provisions for 

employee under-utilisation. A further EUR 174.4m relates 

to legally and contractually stipulated provisions for social 

capital (severance payments and anniversary bonuses) 

along with EUR 93.5m for other staff-related provisions. 

Other provisions amounted to EUR 177.7m and included 

obligations for possible compensation payments in con-

nection with credited recovery claims from non-wage la-

bour costs paid in previous periods. Other financial liabili-

ties amounted to EUR 558.4m and included primarily 

lease liabilities of EUR 391.6m. Trade and other payables 

totalling EUR 487.1m included current trade payables of 

EUR 206.9m. Financial liabilities from financial services of 

EUR 2,833.0m result from business activities of bank99 

(deposit and investment business of bank99 customers). 

Cash flow 

EUR m H1 20211 H1 2022

   

Gross cash flow 227.4 161.9 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 281.5 45.0 

thereof core banking assets from the financial business (CBA) 119.3 –89.2 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES EXCL. CBA 162.2 134.3 

Cash flow from investing activities –14.4 –99.2 

thereof maintenance CAPEX –25.9 –26.1 

thereof growth CAPEX –21.0 –32.5 

thereof cash flow from acquisitions/divestments –0.2 2.3 

thereof acquisition/disposal of securities/money market investments 30.0 –40.5 

thereof other cash flow from investing activities 2.8 –2.3 

Free cash flow 267.1 –54.2 

OPERATING FREE CASH FLOW2 139.1 105.8 

Cash flow from financing activities –144.6 –66.2 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 120.2 –130.0 

1 The presentation of the provision of financial services has been adjusted. Interest from financial services were reported separately as part of cash flow from operating activities. 
2 Free cash flow before acquisitions/securities/money market investments, growth CAPEX and core banking assets 

 

1.3.2 CASH FLOW 

Gross cash flow in the first half of 2022 amounted 

to EUR 161.9m compared to EUR 227.4m in the first half 

of 2021 (–28.8 %). Cash flow from operating activities 

amounted to EUR 45.0m, below the prior-year comparable 

of EUR 281.5m. In this regard, the biggest effect included 

the changes in the core banking assets of bank99 totalling 

minus EUR 89.2m compared to EUR 119.3m in the prior-
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year period. The change in core banking assets in the cur-

rent reporting period included, amongst others, the pur-

chase of government bonds in the amount of EUR 284m. 

Core banking assets include the change in the balance 

sheet items financial assets from financial services and fi-

nancial liabilities from financial services excluding cash, 

cash equivalents and balances with central banks, and 

thus encompass the deposit and investment business of 

bank99. Cash flow from operating activities exclusive core 

banking assets totalled EUR 134.3m in the first half 

of 2022. 

Cash flow from investing activities was minus 

EUR 99.2m in the first six months of 2022, compared to 

minus EUR 14.4m in the prior-year period. Expenditure for 

the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and in-

vestment property (CAPEX) amounted to EUR 58.7m in 

the reporting period. 

Austrian Post relies on operating free cash flow as 

a key indicator to assess the financial strength of its oper-

ating business and to cover the dividend for the financial 

year. Excluding the change in core banking assets, the op-

erating free cash flow totalled EUR 105.8m in the current 

reporting period compared to EUR 139.1m in the first half 

of 2021.  

Cash flow from financing activities came to minus 

EUR 66.2m in the first six months of 2022, compared to 

minus EUR 144.6m in the previous year.  

1.3.3 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 

Austrian Post Group’s capital expenditures includ-

ing leases amounted to EUR 148.2m in total in the first 

half of 2022. Investments in the period under review in-

cluded EUR 140.8m for property, plant and equipment and 

investment property and EUR 7.4m for intangible assets, 

whereas EUR 90.9m was attributable to the addition of 

right-of-use assets pursuant to IFRS 16. The main share 

of investments was made within the context of the capac-

ity expansion programme designed to expand the parcel 

logistics infrastructure as well as in the expansion of the 

sustainable vehicle fleet. 

Employees by Division 

Average for the period, full-time equivalents H1 2021 H1 2022 Share H1 2022

    

Mail 888 885 3.3 %

Parcel & Logistics 9,186 9,030 33.3 %

Retail & Bank 1,980 2,077 7.7 %

Corporate 1,995 2,119 7.8 %

OPERATING DIVISIONS 14,049 14,112 52.0 %

Logistics Network 13,440 13,033 48.0 %

GROUP 27,489 27,144 100 %

 

 

1.4 Employees 

The average number of employees in the Austrian 

Post Group totalled 27,144 full-time equivalents in the 

first half of 2022. The decrease in the total number of 

staff amounts to 345 full-time equivalents. Most of Aus-

trian Post’s staff are employed by the parent company 

Österreichische Post AG (17,396 full-time equivalents in 

total). 

1.5 Events After the Reporting Period 

Events after the reporting period that are material 

for accounting and assessment on the balance sheet date 

as at 30 June 2022 are included in the current consoli-

dated interim financial statements.
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1.6 Opportunities and Risks 

1.6.1 RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Austrian Post’s risk policy focuses on safeguarding 

and sustainably increasing enterprise value and is incor-

porated into the corporate and sustainability strategy. 

Austrian Post is exposed to numerous risks. 

As a result, Austrian Post is prepared to take risks 

provided that the resulting portfolio of opportunities and 

risks is well-balanced and that they remain in line with the 

company’s legal circumstances and fundamental ethical 

values. The goals of safeguarding and achieving a sustain-

able increase in enterprise value must not be jeopardised. 

With respect to inevitable risks, control measures 

are taken to safeguard the company’s assets and achieve 

a sustainable increase in shareholder value.  

1.6.2 MATERIAL RISKS 

Austrian Post’s risks and opportunities result from 

the overall risk environment and from the trends and 

changes that the company faces or is exposed to. 

Geopolitical and Macroeconomic Risks 

There is a risk that the geopolitical and macroeco-

nomic environment will aggravate existing trends, even if 

the Austrian Post Group is only indirectly affected by the 

war in Ukraine. This means that intensified inflation, price 

increases for energy and raw materials as well as prob-

lems in the delivery chain directly and indirectly via a 

changed consumer behaviour could negatively impact the 

risk situation. Increases in staff and energy costs are ex-

pected. 

An imminent shortage on the energy market or a 

stop to gas deliveries pose additional risks. In this case 

Austrian Post would be indirectly impacted in light of the 

fact that a gas shortage could lead to production and eco-

nomic difficulties for Austrian Post customers. In particu-

lar, delivery bottlenecks or price rises in paper production 

could lead to market distortions and thus to a reduction in 

letter mail and direct mail volumes. Moreover, there is a 

risk that consumer behaviour will change and thus result 

in declining parcel volumes.  

Environmental, Social and Governance  

(ESG) Risks 

Austrian Post has been pursuing sustainability ob-

jectives for more than ten years now. This is reflected in 

the integrated group & sustainability strategy. ESG issues 

are a top priority; the CO₂ NEUTRAL DELIVERY initiative is 

a good example. As a result, Austrian Post welcomes and 

supports climate and environmental protection measures. 

However, certain environmental protection efforts could 

exert mounting regulatory pressure on unaddressed prod-

ucts or intensify the trend towards digitalisation. Both 

could lead to declining letter mail and direct mail volumes. 

As a result, Austrian Post is striving to prevent this risk by 

engaging in a dialogue with stakeholders to raise aware-

ness regarding the actual environmental impact of printed 

products. Related life cycle assessments are being per-

formed for each product group.  

ESG efforts and climate change could have an im-

pact on staff and work processes and lead to cost in-

creases. 

While increased awareness of supply chain respon-

sibility translates into increased due diligence, there is 

still a risk that any misconduct in the supply chain could 

result in a loss of reputation. 

A detailed list of further ESG risks and the 

measures designed to reduce them can be found in the 

Sustainability Report, chapter ESG Risk Management, 

starting on page 31. 

Mail and Direct Mail Market 

Traditional letter mail is being increasingly re-

placed by electronic media. The trend towards the elec-

tronic substitution of letters and especially towards elec-

tronic delivery will continue in the future. This develop-

ment, which is being facilitated by legislation, could lead 

to a significant decline in mail volumes and may thus neg-

atively impact earnings. A one-percentage-point revenue 

decrease in the letter mail business implies a negative 

revenue effect of about EUR 6m per annum, which in turn 

reduces earnings in the short and medium term for the 

most part due to the fixed cost structure of the company’s 

operations. There is a possibility that a change in legal 

regulations with regard to the delivery of governmental 

mail would mean that some of these mail items will no 

longer be delivered by Austrian Post. Further acceleration 

in the substitution of letter mail by electronic media is ex-

pected as a result of the entry into force of the e-Govern-

ment Act and further digitisation measures implemented 

by the federal government. Austrian Post counteracts the 

volume decline resulting from this substitution by devel-

oping new products and services. Diversification of busi-

ness operations helps to minimise or spread risks in indi-

vidual sectors. 

The direct mail items business is influenced by the 

overall economic development and strongly depends on 

the intensity of advertising activities by companies. How-

ever, high-street retailers, the most important customer 

group for direct mail items, will continue to be confronted 

with structural trends. An increasing market consolidation 

is perceptible, whereas high-street retailers continue to 
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suffer due to the strong growth of the e-commerce mar-

ket. In turn, this could result in a reduction in advertising 

materials and direct mail volumes which would have a 

negative impact on earnings. In addition, rising paper 

prices could have a negative impact. Furthermore, digital 

advertising and uncertainties regarding the General Data 

Protection Regulation may reduce physical mailings. 

Turkey/Aras Kargo 

Austrian Post holds an 80 % stake in the Turkish 

parcel services provider Aras Kargo a.s. Due to the current 

difficult political situation in Turkey, there is a risk that 

primarily economic parameters could develop to the detri-

ment of Austrian Post. The exchange rate and recently the 

intensified inflationary development are the most im-

portant economic parameters. While the exchange rate is 

reflected in Austrian Post’s result due to currency transla-

tion, inflationary developments can have an impact on the 

local business. Another risk relates to the development in 

staff costs. Like the core business in Austria, Aras Kargo’s 

business is staff intensive. This means that adverse devel-

opments in staff costs could have a negative impact on 

earnings. There is also a risk that the trend towards in-

creased competition or increased internal delivery by 

large mail order companies will continue. 

Parcel Market 

The trend towards increased own delivery by large 

mail order companies is also being observed in the Aus-

trian parcel market. Competition remains intense due to 

continued dynamic growth in the parcel market driven by 

the ongoing e-commerce boom. This gives rise to price and 

volume risks and could lead to shifts in market share. Fur-

thermore, strong parcel growth is driven by large online 

mail order companies that are still growing at a dispropor-

tionately high rate compared to the market itself. Signifi-

cant volume losses and the accompanying effects on reve-

nue and earnings may arise due to the internal delivery 

service established by a major customer along with the 

associated potential for further increases in activities car-

ried out by this customer itself.  

Staff Costs and Structure of  

Employment Contracts 

The business model of Austrian Post is character-

ised by a high staff cost structure. A one-percentage-

point change in wages and salaries corresponds to aver-

age costs of EUR 9m per annum and potential provision 

requirements. Furthermore, a proportion of the Austrian 

Post Group employees have the status of civil servants, 

which means that they are subject to public sector em-

ployment laws, amendments to which could have an addi-

tional negative impact. This leads to peculiarities with re-

spect to the way these employees are deployed in line with 

existing labour regulations. Due to prevailing legal regula-

tions, the company is not allowed to make capacity adjust-

ments for a part of its staff in the event of volume de-

creases. Similarly, no adjustments in wage or salary levels 

are permitted in case of less favourable market condi-

tions. Therefore, on balance, public sector employment 

regulations result in less cost flexibility. Against the back-

drop of a liberalised market, Austrian Post Group increas-

ingly faces limited flexibility in making a good usage of the 

civil servants it employs. 

Logistics and Infrastructure Costs 

The shift in mail volumes from letter mail to par-

cels is resulting in adjustments in the logistics process. 

There is a risk that the efficiency/productivity increases 

that the company is striving to achieve will be delayed. 

Furthermore, in addition to delivery by Austrian Post it-

self, parcel delivery also involves cooperation with freight 

companies. Due to the increase in parcel volumes and the 

associated rise in demand for freight services, the com-

pany is exposed to the risk of cost increases.  

bank99 

Going forward, the development of bank99’s reve-

nue and earnings will depend on two main factors i.e., the 

development of customer business as well as interest 

rates. With regard to the development of the customer 

business, there is a risk that the product range offered will 

not be as popular among customers as expected. Adverse 

interest rate developments could also have a negative im-

pact on earnings. All of these risk aspects could lead to 

the earnings reported by bank99 not developing in line 

with Austrian Post’s expectations. 

The currently prevailing global uncertainties could 

impact the financial sector and thus give rise to the risk 

that in processing transactions with a member of the Ein-

lagensicherung Austria (ESA – compulsory membership 

for deposit protection), the protection scheme for cus-

tomer deposits, bank99 would have to contribute its 

share. 

Austrian Post issued a letter of comfort to secure 

bank99’s capital resources. There is a risk that, in the 

event of a crisis, Austrian Post will have to provide addi-

tional capital to restore the overall capital ratio. 

Financial Risks 

Detailed information on financial instruments and 

the associated financial risks can be found in the Annual 
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Report 2021, Consolidated Financial Statements, 

Note 30.2. 

Technical and Cyber Risks 

To a significant degree, Austrian Post Group is de-

pendent upon the use of complex technical systems. Its 

postal services rely heavily on the support provided by 

data processing systems, modern communications media, 

and other technical equipment. Against this backdrop, 

Austrian Post Group has made extensive investments in 

recent years designed to modernise its distribution and 

delivery network. In this regard, the performance of the 

company is closely linked with the functioning of a small 

number of key sites. A temporary or permanent technical 

system failure or occurrence of temporary or permanent 

technical system failure, unauthorised data access or data 

manipulation – for instance, as a result of cybercrime – 

could potentially lead to disruptions in Austrian Post’s 

business operations, a loss of reputation and customer 

defections and cause additional expenses. Safety and se-

curity measures and guidelines aiming to reduce technical 

and cyber risks have been defined as a means of ensuring 

smooth business operations. Austrian Post Group pursues 

an outsourcing strategy to fulfil its computing and data 

processing requirements. Austrian Post ensures the avail-

ability of outsourcing resources by concluding appropriate 

contractual agreements and through its targeted service 

level management. Contractual partners are required to 

show proof of relevant and valid certificates.  

Regulatory and Legal Risks 

Austrian Post Group operates with a large number 

of products and services in a highly complex legal and reg-

ulatory environment, which is characterised, for example, 

by the Postal Market Act, data protection provisions, tax 

regulations, capital market and competition law. 

As a result, despite Austrian Post exercising the 

greatest possible care, it is impossible to rule out a sce-

nario in which other authorities, e.g. tax authorities, su-

pervisory authorities or courts, take a different legal view 

and this results in a need for back-payments, penalties or 

compensation payments. 

1.6.3 SIGNIFICANT OPPORTUNITIES 

The risk management system aims to identify, ana-

lyse, and evaluate opportunities as well as risks early on, 

and to exploit the corresponding opportunities by taking 

appropriate measures. Significant opportunities for Aus-

trian Post are presented below. They are allocated to spe-

cific strategic areas based on the new integrated corpo-

rate and sustainability strategy, which was updated 

in 2020. The strategy consists of three cornerstones: “De-

fending Market Leadership and Profitability in the Core 

Business,” “Profitable Growth in Near Markets” and “De-

velopment of Retail and Digital Offerings for Private Cus-

tomers and SMEs.” Sustainability is at the core of the new 

integrated corporate and sustainability strategy, flanked 

by the three cornerstones referred to above.  

In the first strategic pillar – Defending Market 

Leadership and Profitability in the Core Business – the 

expansion and adaptation of Austrian Post’s product port-

folio in the Mail and Parcel Divisions in accordance with 

customer requirements is an opportunity. Various value-

added physical and electronic services are continuously 

expanding the range of services offered by Austrian Post. 

Ongoing e-substitution has already been taken into ac-

count within Austrian Post’s planning, in which case the 

more moderate decline in mail volumes in Austria com-

pared to original expectations is seen as an opportunity. 

Opportunities predominantly arise as a result of the 

growth of e-commerce. In this respect, Austrian Post 

stands out due to its new, quick, and lean solutions for 

online orders. Austrian Post has clear competitive ad-

vantages with respect to its quality and cost structure. 

Furthermore, measures to optimise staff and logistics 

costs could provide positive impetus: 

In the second strategic pillar – Profitable Growth 

in Near Markets – opportunities arise primarily from Aus-

trian Post’s equity investment portfolio. The foreign inves-

tees operate primarily in the parcel sector and are also 

benefiting from increasing e-commerce. The subsidiary 

Aras Kargo offers particularly substantial potential due to 

the size and development potential of the Turkish market. 

In the third strategic pillar – Development of Re-

tail and Digital Offerings for Private Customers and 

SMEs – there is potential, by way of example, in the devel-

opment of online and self-service offerings as well as in 

new business models in the area of e-commerce; in partic-

ular, Austrian Post has an opportunity to participate in the 

dynamic online retail trend through its subsidiary Post  

E-Commerce.  

For information on ESG-related opportunities, re-

fer to the Sustainability Report, chapter on ESG Risk Man-

agement, starting on page 31. 

1.6.4 OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF THE  

GROUP’S RISK SITUATION 

The company continuously monitors the risks and 

opportunities described above. In response, appropriate 

measures are carried out and initiatives launched. Overall, 

the instability created by the pandemic as well as the geo-

political and macroeconomic environment is expected to 

increase in both a positive and a negative sense. A look at 
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the company’s main opportunities and risks shows that, 

while the issues faced by Austrian Post are changing and 

shifting, the company’s opportunities and risks are stable 

overall. As a result, there is no threat to the company’s du-

ration from today’s perspective.  

1.7 Related Party Transactions 

No major changes to related party transactions 

took place in the first half of 2022. Information on busi-

ness relationships with related companies and persons 

can be found in the Annual Report 2021 of Austrian Post 

(refer to the Annual Report 2021, Consolidated Financial 

Statements, Note 31.2). 
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1.8 Outlook 2022 

The first six months of 2022 posed major chal-

lenges to companies, particularly in Europe. The COVID-19 

pandemic, countermeasures and the related delays in the 

global value chain where at the origin of the global infla-

tion trend. The war in Ukraine is now intensifying price 

pressures on important raw materials and energy sources. 

These conditions will continue to prevail in the second half 

of the year. There is also the risk that the energy market 

will remain unpredictable and that the gas supply in parts 

of Europe may not be secured.  

TARGETED REVENUE STABILITY IN 2022  

Austrian Post aims to counteract these unfavoura-

ble conditions with respect to both revenue and costs. For 

this reason, price adjustments are just as necessary as ef-

ficiency increases in internal processes. Assuming a con-

tinuation of energy and gas supplies in Europe, the com-

pany continues to strive to generate 2022 revenue which 

is as close as possible to the 2021 level. Developments in 

the past months confirm this assumption. 

Stable or slightly lower revenue is forecasted for 

the Mail Division in 2022. The basic volume development 

for traditional letter mail will continue to show a down-

ward trend of about 5 % p.a. Positive or negative special 

effects based on one-off mailings are possible on a quar-

terly basis. Direct mail and media post volumes will remain 

volatile. Gas and paper prices negatively impact the cost 

structure of many customers. 

Necessary price rises will be continuously imple-

mented due to international pressure on factor costs such 

as fuel, energy, and staff costs. Accordingly, within the 

context of the company’s universal service obligation, 

postage rates for Economy Letters featuring delivery 

within 2–3 days were raised effective 1 July 2022. A fur-

ther step is the upward adjustment of postal rates for Pri-

ority Letters as of 1 October 2022.  

Revenue in the Parcel & Logistics Division is ex-

pected to decline slightly in 2022. The crucial factor in this 

respect is the challenging development in Turkey. High in-

flation and currency depreciation against the euro have 

already led to a decline in Turkish parcel revenue by 

32.6 % in euro terms in the first half-year. In contrast, the 

parcel business in Austria as well as in Southeast and 

Eastern Europe developed more favourably. The situation 

should stabilise now following the substantial volume de-

clines in the first quarter of 2022 in relation to the very 

high comparable figures in 2021. Parcel volumes in Aus-

tria could come close to the prior-year figures against the 

backdrop of difficult market conditions. 

Revenue of the Retail & Bank Division will increase 

significantly in 2022 due to the acquisition of ING’s retail 

business. The priority at present is the integration of the 

new unit in bank99 as well as the further ramp-up of cus-

tomers and expansion of the product portfolio.  

GROUP EARNINGS 2022 

The earnings outlook for 2022 remains highly un-

certain due to the risks in the European energy market. At 

the same time, further supply chain constraints, en-

trenched inflation and more subdued consumer behaviour 

are to be expected.  

From today’s perspective, Group EBIT should be in 

the range of the results reported in the last two years, 

namely EUR 205m in 2021 and EUR 161m in 2020. The 

ambition of the company is to get as close as possible to 

the level of 2021. The underlying prerequisite is predicta-

bility of the gas and energy supply in Austrian Post’s mar-

kets.  

CONTINUATION OF INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 

The planned investment programme to expand the 

logistics infrastructure and to ensure a sustainable vehi-

cle fleet will be fundamentally maintained. Individual in-

vestments are being assessed to ensure meeting all prof-

itability targets.  

Maintenance CAPEX in Austria, Southeast and 

Eastern Europe and Turkey totalling about EUR 100m, 

comprise the basis of the company’s investment activities 

in 2022. Furthermore, growth CAPEX of about EUR 80m is 

planned in Austria in 2022, assuming the availability of ve-

hicles and construction services. The conversion of logis-

tics processes to enable climate-free delivery plays a key 

role in all investment projects. 
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Consolidated Income Statement  
for the first half of 2022    

EUR m 
H1 2021 

adjusted1 H1 2022
Q2 2021 

adjusted1 Q2 2022

     

Revenue 1,262.6 1,211.8 615.6 610.4 

thereof results from financial services 14.6 35.2 7.6 17.9 

thereof results from effective interest 0.1 13.9 0.1 7.0 

Other operating income 43.1 59.2 20.9 30.8 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 1,305.7 1,271.0 636.5 641.2 

Raw materials, consumables and services used –355.0 –349.4 –169.5 –173.8 

Expenses for financial services –2.3 –6.4 –1.3 –3.2 

Staff costs –587.6 –571.8 –284.1 –283.9 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses –81.1 –88.4 –41.8 –46.8 

Other operating expenses –176.8 –165.1 –96.3 –83.2 

thereof impairment losses in accordance with IFRS 9 –0.5 –2.9 –0.3 –0.9 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES –1,202.7 –1,181.2 –592.9 –590.9 

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method 0.4 0.1 0.1 –0.1 

Net monetary gain 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1 

EARNINGS BEFORE FINANCIAL RESULT AND INCOME TAX (EBIT) 103.4 91.0 43.7 51.4 

Financial income 13.0 8.5 8.2 3.0 

Financial expenses –8.3 –22.0 –5.9 –17.6 

FINANCIAL RESULT 4.7 –13.5 2.3 –14.6 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 108.1 77.5 45.9 36.8 

Income tax –23.9 –22.7 –11.7 –12.5 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 84.2 54.8 34.3 24.3 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:     

Shareholders of the parent company 79.7 56.3 31.6 25.4 

Non-controlling interests 4.4 –1.5 2.6 –1.1 

          

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EUR)     

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 1.18 0.83 0.47 0.38 

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 1.18 0.83 0.47 0.38 

1 Adjustments see Note 2.2 change in presentation of financial services 

 

 

  

Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements  



 

20

Half-year Financial Report _____ 2022 - Austrian Post 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the first half of 2022    

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022 Q2 2021 Q2 2022

     

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 84.2 54.8 34.3 24.3 

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO THE INCOME 

STATEMENT:  

  

 

Currency translation differences and hyperinflation adjustment – investments in 

foreign businesses –9.6

 

17.8 –3.4 21.9 

TOTAL ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED –9.6 17.8 –3.4 21.9 

ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO THE INCOME 

STATEMENT:     

Revaluation of defined benefit obligations 4.2 16.7 4.2 18.7 

Tax effect of revaluation –1.1 –4.8 –1.1 –4.4 

TOTAL ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED 3.1 11.9 3.1 14.3 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME –6.5 29.7 –0.4 36.2 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 77.6 84.5 33.9 60.5 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:     

Shareholders of the parent company 75.4 83.0 32.2 57.8 

Non-controlling interests 2.2 1.5 1.6 2.8 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2022    

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

ASSETS   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   

Goodwill 62.0 60.5 

Intangible assets 81.8 100.2 

Property, plant and equipment 1,206.5 1,280.3 

Investment property 76.3 78.9 

Financial assets accounted for using the equity method 8.2 7.6 

Other financial assets 5.6 5.6 

Other receivables 14.3 12.4 

Deferred tax assets 46.6 37.0 

  1,501.3 1,582.4 

FINANCIAL ASSETS FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES   

Cash, cash equivalents and central bank balances 1,218.2 1,120.6 

Receivables from banks 0.0 30.0 

Receivables from customers 1,402.3 1,440.2 

Investments 73.5 357.8 

Other 21.9 45.6 

  2,715.8 2,994.3 

CURRENT ASSETS   

Other financial assets 31.4 73.5 

Inventories 16.5 18.8 

Contract assets 3.1 1.4 

Trade and other receivables 376.7 356.5 

Tax assets 62.0 77.5 

Cash and cash equivalents 85.8 53.4 

  575.4 581.1 

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 0.1 0.0 

  4,792.6 5,157.8 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2022    

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

EQUITY   

Share capital 337.8 337.8 

Capital reserves 91.0 91.0 

Revenue reserves 278.2 206.5 

Other reserves –62.6 –22.1 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 644.3 613.1 

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 27.9 27.5 

  672.2 640.7 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Provisions 379.8 339.2 

Other financial liabilities 281.4 485.2 

Other payables 59.4 56.9 

Contract liabilities 3.8 3.0 

Deferred tax liabilities 0.1 6.2 

  724.5 890.4 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES   

Borrowings from banks 2.3 77.6 

Liabilities to customers 2,532.9 2,740.1 

Other 8.3 15.3 

  2,543.5 2,833.0 

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Provisions 308.2 299.6 

Tax liabilities 6.5 2.4 

Other financial liabilities 123.0 73.2 

Trade and other payables 386.1 388.5 

Contract liabilities 28.6 30.1 

  852.4 793.8 

  4,792.6 5,157.8 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the first half of 2022    

EUR m 
H1 2021 

adjusted1 H1 2022

   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Profit before tax 108.1 77.5 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 81.1 88.4 

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method –0.4 –0.1 

Provisions non-cash 24.0 –15.4 

Net monetary position - non cash 0.0 7.9 

Other non-cash transactions 14.6 3.6 

GROSS CASH FLOW 227.4 161.9 

Trade and other receivables –3.8 17.7 

Inventories –0.3 –2.6 

Contract assets 3.1 1.7 

Provisions –18.1 –30.4 

Trade and other payables –10.5 10.5 

Contract liabilities 2.5 0.8 

Financial assets/liabilities from financial services 119.3 –89.2 

Interest received from financial services 0.1 13.6 

Interest paid from financial services –1.4 –3.3 

Taxes paid –36.9 –35.6 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 281.5 45.0 

      

INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Acquisition of intangible assets –8.0 –8.0 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment/investment property –47.0 –58.7 

Sale of property, plant and equipment/investment property 8.7 3.6 

Acquisition of subsidiaries/non-controlling interests/business units –1.1 –0.3 

Sale of financial assets accounted for using the equity method 0.0 1.8 

Sale of other financial instruments 0.9 0.8 

Acquisition of financial investments in securities/money market investments –10.0 –70.2 

Sale of financial investments in securities/money market investments 40.0 29.6 

Loans granted 0.1 0.4 

Interest received and income from securities 2.1 1.7 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES –14.4 –99.2 

FREE CASH FLOW 267.1 –54.2 

1 Adjustments see Note 2.2 change in presentation of financial services 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the first half of 2022    

EUR m 
H1 2021 

adjusted1 H1 2022

   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Issuance of long-term financing 0.0 150.0 

Repayment of long-term financial liabilities (incl. current maturities of long-term debt) –25.2 –28.7 

Changes of short-term financial liabilities –5.7 –53.9 

Dividends paid –115.7 –132.1 

Interest paid –2.7 –2.9 

Payments from non-controlling interests 4.5 1.4 

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES –144.6 –66.2 

Currency translation differences in cash and cash equivalents –2.3 –1.9 

Monetary loss on cash and cash equivalents 0.0 –7.6 

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 120.2 –130.0 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 687.1 1,304.1 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 30 JUNE 807.3 1,174.1 

1 Adjustments see Note 2.2 change in presentation of financial services 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the first half of 2021    

     Other reserves    

EUR m 
Share

capital
Capital 

reserves
Revenue
reserves

IAS 19
reserve

FVOCI 
reserve 

Currency
translation

reserve

Equity
attribut-

able to
share-

holders of
the parent

company

Non-con-
trolling 

interests Equity

          

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2021 337.8 91.0 231.4 –28.0 0.6 –5.4 627.4 27.6 655.0

Profit for the period 0.0 0.0 79.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 79.7 4.4 84.2

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 –7.6 –4.3 –2.2 –6.5

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 0.0 0.0 79.7 3.3 0.0 –7.6 75.4 2.2 77.6

Dividends paid 0.0 0.0 –108.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 –108.1 –6.3 –114.4

Payments to subsidiaries with non-

controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 4.5

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 0.0 0.0 –108.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 –108.1 –1.8 –109.9

Disposal of financial assets 0.0 0.0 –0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

OTHER CHANGES 0.0 0.0 –0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 337.8 91.0 202.8 –24.7 0.8 –13.0 594.7 28.0 622.7

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the first half of 2022   

     Other reserves    

EUR m 
Share

capital
Capital 

reserves
Revenue
reserves

IAS 19
reserve

FVOCI 
reserve 

Currency
translation

reserve

Equity
attribut-

able to
share-

holders of
the parent

company

Non-con-
trolling 

interests Equity

          

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2022 337.8 91.0 278.2 –32.6 0.9 –31.0 644.3 27.9 672.2 

Adjustment first-time application 

hyperinflation 0.0 0.0 –0.2 0.2 0.0 13.8 13.8 3.4 17.2 

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2022 

ADJUSTED 337.8 91.0 278.0 –32.4 0.9 –17.2 658.1 31.4 689.5 

Profit for the period 0.0 0.0 56.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 56.3 –1.5 54.8 

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.6 0.0 14.1 26.8 2.9 29.7 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 0.0 0.0 56.3 12.6 0.0 14.1 83.0 1.5 84.5 

Dividends paid 0.0 0.0 –128.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 –128.4 –6.2 –134.5 

Acquisition of non-controlling 

interests 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 –0.5 –0.1 

Payments to subsidiaries with non-

controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.4 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS 0.0 0.0 –128.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –128.0 –5.3 –133.3 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 337.8 91.0 206.3 –19.8 0.9 –3.1 613.1 27.5 640.7 
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1. Summary of Accounting Principles   

The consolidated interim financial statements of Austrian Post as at 30 June 2022 have 

been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) valid 

as at 30 June 2022, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 

adopted by the European Union, and the additional requirements of Section 245a of the Aus-

trian Commercial Code (UGB). 

These consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The consolidated interim financial statements do not in-

clude all the notes usually contained in the financial statements for the entire financial year. 

Accordingly, these consolidated interim financial statements should be read in connection with 

the consolidated financial statements for the 2021 financial year. The accounting and valuation 

methods as well as the explanations and notes to the financial statements are fundamentally 

based on the same accounting and valuation methods underlying the consolidated financial 

statements for the 2021 financial year with the exception of the initial application of new and 

revised standards or accounting policies as explained below. 

The consolidated interim financial statements are presented in Euros. All amounts are 

listed in millions of euros (EUR m) unless stated otherwise. When aggregating rounded amounts 

and percentages, rounding differences may occur due to the use of automated calculation aids. 

These consolidated interim financial statements were neither subject to a complete au-

dit nor to an audit review by an auditor. 

2. Changes in Accounting and Valuation Methods and 
Adjustment of Prior-Year Figures 

2.1 Mandatory and early application of new and revised IFRS  

There were no new standards which had to be applied on a mandatory basis for the first 

time during the first half of 2022. The following revised standards had to be applied for the first 

time: 

Mandatory application of revised standards Effective date1 

   

IFRS 3 Business combinations 01/01/2022

IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment 01/01/2022

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 01/01/2022

Miscellaneous Improvements to IFRS (2018-2020) 01/01/2022

1 To be applied in the financial year beginning on or after the effective date. 

Application of the revised standards did not have any material impact on the Austrian 

Post Group.  

Notes to the Consolidated 
Interim Financial Statements 
for the first half of 2022  
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2.2 Change in the Presentation of financial services 

As a result of the change in the presentation of financial services as at 31 December 

2021, the following adjustments in the prior-year figures were carried out for the consolidated 

interim financial statements as at 30 June 2022:  

Adjustments to the Consolidated Income Statement for the first half of 2021 

EUR m H1 2021 Adjustment

H1 2021
adjusted

    

Revenue 1,260.4 2.3 1,262.6

thereof income from financial services 12.4 –12.4 0.0

thereof results from financial services 0.0 14.6 14.6

Other operating income 43.1 0.0 43.1

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 1,303.5 2.3 1,305.7

Raw materials, consumables and services used –355.0 0.0 –355.0

Expenses for financial services 0.0 –2.3 –2.3

Staff costs –587.6 0.0 –587.6

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs –81.1 0.0 –81.1

Other operating expenses –176.8 0.0 –176.8

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES –1,200.4 –2.3 –1,202.7

 

Adjustments to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the first half of 2021 

EUR m H1 2021 Adjustment

H1 2021
adjusted

    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Profit before tax 108.1 0.0 108.1

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs 81.1 0.0 81.1

Results from financial assets accounted for using the equity method –0.4 0.0 –0.4

Provisions non-cash 24.0 0.0 24.0

Other non-cash transactions 13.4 1.3 14.6

GROSS CASH FLOW 226.1 1.3 227.4

Trade receivables and other receivables –3.8 0.0 –3.8

Inventories –0.3 0.0 –0.3

Contract assets 3.1 0.0 3.1

Provisions –18.1 0.0 –18.1

Trade and other payables –10.5 0.0 –10.5

Contract liabilities 2.5 0.0 2.5

Financial assets/liabilities from financial services 119.3 0.0 119.3

Interest received from financial services 0.0 0.1 0.1

Interest paid from financial services 0.0 –1.4 –1.4

Taxes paid –36.9 0.0 –36.9

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 281.5 0.0 281.5
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3. Scope of Consolidation 

In addition to Österreichische Post AG, a total of 25 domestic subsidiaries 

(31 December 2021: 28) and 14 foreign subsidiaries (31 December 2021: 13) are included in 

the consolidated interim financial statements. Furthermore, no domestic (31 December 2021: 

one) and one foreign company (31 December 2021: one) are accounted for using the equity 

method. 

3.1 Changes in Scope of Consolidation 

The following changes in scope of consolidation and transactions with non-controlling 

interests took place in the first half of 2022: 

  Interest   

Company name from to Date of transaction Comment

     

MAIL     

Post 102 Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna (Österreichische Post AG, 

Vienna)1 100 % 0.00 % 28 Apr. 2022 Merger

Scanpoint GmbH, Vienna (Post Business Solutions GmbH, Vienna, 

formerly D2D - direct to document GmbH)1 100 % 0.00 % 31 May 2022 Merger

EMD - Elektronische- u. Mikrofilm-Dokumentationssysteme 

Ges.m.b.H., Haid bei Ansfelden (Post Business Solutions GmbH, 

Vienna, formerly D2D - direct to document GmbH)1 100 % 0.00 % 31 May 2022 Merger

Operational unit 'Poststellenmanagement’ der Österreichische 

Post AG (Post Business Solutions GmbH, Vienna, formerly D2D - 

direct to document GmbH)2 0.00 % 0.00 % 31 May 2022

Contribution of

operational unit

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz 51.00 % 100 % 1 Jun. 2022 Acquisition

      

PARCEL & LOGISTICS     

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH, Graz 48.36 % 0.00 % 11 Mar. 2022 Sale

Express One SI d.o.o., Ljubljana 0.00 % 100 % 1 Apr. 2022 Foundation

1 The subsidiary listed first was merged with the Group company listed in paranthesis and is therefore no longer included in the scope of consolidation. 
2 The mentioned operational unit was transferred to the susidiary listed in parenthesis. 

 

MAIL 

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH 

As at 1 June 2022 Austrian Post acquired the remaining 49 % of the shares in  

sendhybrid ÖPBD GmbH, Graz, which has been fully consolidated since 2018. The acquisition, 

recognised with no impact on profit and loss, led to a reclassification of non-controlling inter-

ests amounting to EUR 0.5m in the share capital attributable to shareholders of the parent 

company.  

PARCEL & LOGISTICS 

PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH 

As at 11 March 2022, Austrian Post disposed of the 48.36 % stake it held in the associ-

ated company PHS Logistiktechnik GmbH, Graz. The end of the significant influence on the 

company and therefore, the end of the application of the equity method resulted in a gain of 

EUR 1.3m recognised under other operating income.  

RETAIL & BANK 

bank99 AG 

In June 2022, the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of the retail banking 

business of the Austrian branch of ING DiBa AG, Frankfurt, with the closing date of  
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1 December 2021, was concluded. The final purchase price allocation only resulted in immate-

rial shifts. For this reason, a retrospective adjustment of the values recognised in the consoli-

dated financial statements as at 31 December 2021 was not carried out.  

4. Currency Translation 

Financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency is the currency of a hy-

perinflationary economy, are translated with the reference exchange rate of the European Cen-

tral Bank applicable on the balance sheet date.  

5. Accounting and Valuation Methods 

5.1 Hyperinflation 

Pursuant to IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, the financial 

statements of subsidiaries operating in a hyperinflationary economy are restated before trans-

lation into the Group currency. Non-monetary items on the balance sheet carried at cost or 

cost less depreciation, are restated by applying a general price index from the dates of their ac-

quisition or production. Monetary items on the balance sheet are not restated. Equity compo-

nents are restated using a general price index from the time of their addition. All items in the 

consolidated income statement and in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

are restated by applying a general price index starting at the time in which the respective in-

come and expenses are initially recognised in the financial statements. The net monetary gain 

or loss is presented as a separate item in the consolidated income statement in "Earnings be-

fore financial result and income tax (EBIT)." Differences between the carrying amount of indi-

vidual assets and liabilities reported on the balance sheet and their tax bases are accounted for 

pursuant to IAS 12 Income Taxes. In line with IAS 21.42(b), no restatement is made of compara-

tive amounts for previous periods. The effect of the inflation adjustment derived from the 

translation of the financial statements of a subsidiary whose functional currency is the cur-

rency of a hyperinflationary economy is presented as part of the currency translation differ-

ence in the currency translation reserve. 

The financial statements of the Turkish subsidiary are based on a historical cost ap-

proach. Due to the changes in the general purchasing power of the functional currency in Turkey 

(Turkish Lira, TRY), the financial statements of the Turkish subsidiary had to be restated as at 

30 June 2022 and are now stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the end of the re-

porting period. The consumer price index published by the Turkish Statistical Institute is used 

as the basis for the restatement. The cumulative inflation over the last three years amounted to 

136,42 % as at 30. June 2022. The consumer price index as at 30 June 2022 equalled TRY 

977.90. The change in the consumer price index is as follows: 
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Monthly Change in the Consumer Price Index: 

in % 2022

  

January 11.10

February 4.81

March 5.46

April 7.25

May 2.98

June 4.95

 

5.2 Hedge Accounting 

In order to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks related to assets from financial ser-

vices held at fixed interest rates, part of the derivative financial instruments of the Austrian 

Post Group are designated as hedging instruments. These hedges are accounted in accordance 

with IFRS 9 and correspond to a fair value hedge in line with IFRS 9.6.5.2a.  

Derivative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges in the Austrian Post 

Group hedge financial assets or liabilities against the risk of a change in fair value. The change 

in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the fair value of the hedged item, 

as this applies to the hedged risk, are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Value 

fluctuations of the hedged item are basically compensated by value fluctuations of the hedging 

instrument. Any resulting deviations (ineffectiveness) are recognised in other operating income 

(in case of a positive surplus value) or in other operating expenses (in case of a negative surplus 

value). 

The derivative designated as a hedging instrument is accounted for at fair value through 

profit or loss. Positive fair values from the hedging instrument are reported under other finan-

cial assets from financial service, whereas negative fair values are recognised under other lia-

bilities from financial services. The hedged items of the Austrian Post Group are financial as-

sets from financial services which are measured at amortised cost and are adjusted by the 

change in fair value of the hedged risk within the context of the hedge relationship (basis ad-

justments).  

At the beginning of the hedge, the hedge relationship and the risk management objec-

tives and strategies are formally specified and documented. The documentation encompasses 

the identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item and the type of hedged risk. The 

way in which an assessment is made on whether the hedge relationship fulfils the hedge effec-

tiveness requirements is also presented.  

A hedge relationship only qualifies for hedge accounting if the following criteria are ful-

filled pursuant to IFRS 9.6.4.1: 

_ There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument. 

_ The effect of the credit risk cannot dominate the value changes resulting from the economic 

relationship.  

_ The hedge ratio of the hedge relationship correspondents to the relationship of the quantity 

of the hedged item and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses 

to hedge the quantity of the hedged item.  

The hedge relationship is ceased if a hedging instrument expires, is disposed of or ter-

minated or the criteria for hedge accounting are no longer fulfilled. In this case the fair value 
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adjustment (basis adjustment) of the financial assets designated as the hedged items are dis-

solved over their remaining term to maturity and recognised as income from financial services 

in the consolidated income statement.  

6. Future-related Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties 

6.1 Impacts of COVID-19 and Climate Change 

Within the context of preparing the consolidated interim financial statements, current 

developments relating to COVID-19 as well as climate change are taken into account and po-

tential effects on the Austrian Post Group are evaluated.  

Restrictions triggered by COVID-19 were lifted in the first half of 2022, which led to an 

economic upturn. 

With respect to trade and other receivables, there were still no perceived payment de-

faults or other significant adverse effects related to COVID-19 observed. Austrian Post no 

longer assumes the existence of an increased credit risk. For this reason, no additional COVID-

19-related factors are taken into account in the 2022 financial year when calculating expected 

loss rates. 

With regard to receivables from customers, future expectations including increased 

risks are already considered within the context of granting loans and measuring the credit risk. 

Accordingly, an enhanced risk relating to COVID-19 is already priced into the loan in determin-

ing the extent of default probabilities in the various rating classes. In this connection, no 

COVID-19-related deterioration in the credit portfolio was observed as at 30 June 2022. 

Concerning the COVID-19 bonus for new investments, the Austrian Post Group contin-

ues to expect investment funding to the amount of EUR 6.8m applying to an investment volume 

of EUR 49.6m. As at 30 June 2022, receivables in the amount of EUR 5.3m (31 December 2021: 

EUR 3.3m) for the first partial settlement was recognised, for which payment is expected in the 

course of the 2023 financial year.  

Furthermore, in the first half of 2022, social insurance institutions made a total of EUR 

13.1m (H1 2021: EUR 0.7m) in compensatory payments to Austrian Post, which was recognised 

as other operating income. These payments relate to employees from COVID-19 risk groups 

who had to be released from their duties with continued remuneration for that period as well as 

employees who were granted special care leave. 

There were no significant changes in the first half of the 2022 financial year in connec-

tion with climate change. For this reason, no material impacts on the consolidated interim fi-

nancial statements as at 30 June 2022 were observed.  

6.2 Impacts of the Russia-Ukraine War 

Since the invasion of Ukraine by Russian forces at the end of February 2022, the Rus-

sian Federation has been at war with Ukraine. Within the context of this invasion, in particular 

the European Union and the United States of America have imposed comprehensive sanctions 

against Russia and Belarus. 

Potential effects of the war were analysed separately and in depth in preparing the con-

solidated interim financial statements. The evaluation particularly focused on impairment of 

assets pursuant to IAS 36, the recognition and valuation of assets in line with IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 13, the recognition and valuation of liabilities as well as the recognition of deferred taxes.  

The existing uncertainties and reduced expectations concerning macroeconomic devel-

opments were classified as possible indications for impairment pursuant to IAS 36. Updates of 

the impairment tests for selected cash generating units as well as investment properties were 

carried out in the first half of 2022. Therefore, the updated assumptions were reflected in the 
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expected future cash flows as well as in the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). Assump-

tions with regard to the long-term earnings development of the company remained unchanged. 

The impairment tests did not lead to any impairment. Similarly, no material effects on the fair 

values of the properties were identified. 

With regard to receivables from customers, trade and other receivables, no significant 

payment defaults were observed, and no customers were identified who were directly or indi-

rectly subject to an increased risk as a result of the war. For this reason, no adjustments were 

made to the expected loss rates or to the risk parameters. Moreover, the impacts of rising in-

terest rates and inflation rates on receivables from customers as a consequence of the war 

were analysed by doing stress tests. For this purpose, ad hoc stress tests were carried out on 

the internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) in order to enable impact assess-

ments and to examine the company’s own capital adequacy. Subject to stress testing were the 

main influencing factors of probability of default (PD) and interest rates. The stress test on the 

factor probability of default (PD) was derived with the help of a scoring model in which the in-

come of the current customers was reduced by a pessimistic inflation rate. The results of the 

stress tests showed that there is no risk regarding the total limit of the risk-bearing capacity 

and thus no significant changes in the credit portfolio were identified. 

No significant adjustments of provisions as well as deferred taxes were necessary due 

to the Russia-Ukraine war. 
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7. Segment Reporting 

The following tables present segment disclosures for the reportable segments for the 

first half of 2021 and the first half of 2022: 

H1 2021 

EUR m Mail
Parcel &
Logistics Retail & Bank Corporate

Group
Reconciliation Group

       

Revenue (segments) 608.2 628.1 34.0 1.4 –11.4 1,260.4

Revenue intra-Group 1.4 0.5 90.4 0.0 –92.2 0.0

TOTAL REVENUE 609.6 628.5 124.4 1.4 –103.5 1,260.4

thereof revenue with third parties 603.8 621.3 33.9 1.4 0.0 1,260.4

thereof results from financial services 0.0 0.0 12.5 0.0 –0.2 12.4

EBIT 82.4 59.7 –27.0 –11.7 0.0 103.4

Financial result      4.7

PROFIT BEFORE TAX      108.1

H1 2022  

EUR m Mail
Parcel &
Logistics Retail & Bank Corporate

Group
Reconciliation Group

       

Revenue (segments) 599.5 572.0 54.2 1.1 –15.1 1,211.8 

Revenue intra-Group 1.9 0.3 93.7 0.0 –95.8 0.0 

TOTAL REVENUE 601.4 572.4 147.8 1.1 –110.9 1,211.8 

thereof revenue with third parties 594.0 562.7 54.0 1.1 0.0 1,211.8 

thereof results from financial services 0.0 0.0 35.4 0.0 –0.2 35.2 

EBIT 82.9 45.5 –20.4 –16.7 –0.2 91.0 

Financial result      –13.5 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX      77.5 

 

8. Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The following table shows revenue from contracts with customers broken down accord-

ing to reportable segments and type of products or services and regions: 
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EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

Letter Mail 367.0 350.0 

Business Solutions 20.8 21.0 

Direct Mail 157.3 160.5 

Media Post 58.7 62.6 

MAIL 603.8 594.0 

Parcel Austria 346.7 341.5 

Parcel Turkey 34.2 28.6 

Parcel CEE/SEE 79.7 84.4 

Logistics Solutions/Consolidation 160.7 108.2 

PARCEL & LOGISTICS 621.3 562.7 

Branch Services 21.5 18.7 

Commission income from financial services1 14.5 21.3 

RETAIL & BANK 36.0 40.0 

Other revenue 1.4 1.1 

CORPORATE 1.4 1.1 

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 1,262.5 1,197.8 

thereof recognized in revenue 1,262.5 1,197.8 

1 see note 9.1 result from financial services 

 

The presentation in the Parcel & Logistics segment was adjusted during the first half of 

2022 to ensure a transparent and suitable breakdown of revenue from contracts with custom-

ers. The breakdown is now carried out in parcel logistics with a regional presentation as well as 

in logistics services. The comparative figures for the previous year were adjusted accordingly. 

9. Result from Financial Services 

Income derived from financial services is shown as part of revenue whereas expenses 

for financial services are presented as a separate item in the consolidated income statement:  

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

Interest income 0.1 13.9 

Commission income 14.5 21.3 

INCOME FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 14.6 35.2 

 

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

Interest expense –1.4 –3.4 

Commission expense –0.9 –2.9 

EXPENSES FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES –2.3 –6.4 

 

 Impairment losses pursuant to IFRS 9 which relate to financial assets from financial 

services are recognised under other operating expenses.  

Negative interest amounting to EUR 2.1m (H1 2021: EUR 1.2m) are recognised in the 

interest expense.  

The result from financial services is as follows: 
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EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

Interest income 0.1 13.9 

thereof results of the effective interest method 0.1 13.9 

Interest expense –1.4 –3.4 

NET INTEREST INCOME/EXPENSE –1.3 10.5 

Commission income 14.5 21.3 

Commission expense –0.9 –2.9 

NET COMMISSION INCOME/EXPENSES 13.7 18.3 

NET INTEREST AND COMMISSION INCOME/EXPENSES 12.4 28.8 

Revaluation and derecognition income 0.0 0.6 

Impairment loss IFRS 9 –0.1 –2.5 

INCOME FROM FINANCIAL SERVICES 12.3 26.9 

 

Interest income mainly results from receivables from customers. Commission income is 

derived from the current account business and payment transactions in an amount of EUR 

8.8m (H1 2021: EUR 5.8m), from other services in an amount of EUR 8.5m (H1 2021: EUR 8.7m) 

and from the business with securities in an amount of EUR 3.8m (H1 2021: EUR 0.0m). 

10. Financial Result 

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

FINANCIAL INCOME    

Interest income 1.9 1.9 

Income from securities 0.3 0.3 

Income from revaluation of financial assets and derivatives 0.1 2.1 

Income from realized derivatives 0.9 0.0 

Income from foreign currency valuation 9.7 4.2 

  13.0 8.5 

FINANCIAL EXPENSES    

Interest expense from lease liabilities –2.6 –2.3 

Interest expense for other financial liabilities –0.1 –0.6 

Interest expense for other liabilities –4.0 –3.9 

Interest expense (interest effects of provisions) –1.3 –1.9 

Expense from revaluation of financial assets –0.3 –0.5 

Expenses from foreign currency valuation 0.0 –12.8 

  –8.3 –22.0 

 FINANCIAL RESULT 4.7 –13.5 

 

The increase in income from the revaluation of financial assets and derivatives in the 

first half of 2022 mainly refers to income from money market investments totalling EUR 1.9m.  

Income and expenses from foreign currency valuation in the first half of 2022 relate on 

the one hand to the income and expenses from foreign currency measurement and the inflation 

effects of liabilities resulting from purchase obligations of non-controlling interests and, on the 

other hand, to foreign currency gains and losses from cash and cash equivalents.  

The interest expense for other liabilities comprises expenses from the interest cost of 

liabilities resulting from purchase obligations of non-controlling interests.  
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Impairment losses in accordance with IFRS 9 on debt instruments measured at amor-

tised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) are reported under ex-

penses from the revaluation of financial assets. Due to the immaterial amounts involved, they 

are not disclosed as separate items in the income statement in accordance with IAS 1.82. 

11. Income Tax 

The Austria Eco-Social Tax Reform Act was resolved upon by the National Council after 

the third reading on 20 January 2022. It stipulates a phased reduction of the corporate income 

tax rate from 25 % to 23 % (2023: 24 %, 2024: 23 %), amongst other measures. As a result, de-

ferred tax assets were reduced by EUR 2.9m.  

The application of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies had an 

effect of about EUR 8.0m on deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. 

 

12. Hyperinflation 

12.1 Goodwill 

The application of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies on the fi-

nancial statements of the Turkish subsidiary led to an increase in the carrying amount of the 

cash generating unit (CGU) Aras Kargo (Parcel & Logistics segment). An impairment test carried 

out pursuant to IAS 36, lead to an impairment loss of EUR 1.4m which was recognised on good-

will for the CGU Aras Kargo. This impairment results from the effects relating to the adjustment 

of the carrying amount in line with IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

as well as from operating risks in connection with hyperinflation in Turkey that were considered 

when calculating the value in use. The impairment loss was recognised under depreciation, 

amortisation and impairment losses in the consolidated income statement.  

12.2 Intangible Assets 

The application of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies on the fi-

nancial statements of the Turkish subsidiary led to a restatement of EUR 27.6m with respect to 

the historical costs of intangible assets as at 1 January 2022. Of this amount, EUR 8.9m re-

lated to customer relationships, EUR 13.0m to trademarks and EUR 5.7m to other intangible 

assets. The cumulative depreciation and impairment losses as at 1 January 2022 had to be re-

stated by EUR 3.7m, of which EUR 1.7m involved customer relationships and EUR 2.0m other in-

tangible assets. 

12.3 Property, Plant and Equipment 

The historical costs of property, plant and equipment as at 1 January 2022 were re-

stated by the amount of EUR 24.1m due to the application of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hy-

perinflationary Economies on the financial statements of the Turkish subsidiary. Of this 

amount, EUR 13.7m related to property and buildings, EUR 6.3m to technical plant and machin-

ery and EUR 4.1m to other equipment, furniture and fittings. The cumulative depreciation and 

impairment losses as at 1 January 2022 had to be restated by EUR 4.7m. Of this amount, EUR 

2.2m was related to property and buildings, EUR 1.0m to technical plant and machinery and 

EUR 1.6m to other equipment, furniture and fittings.  
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The carrying amount of the right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2022 were restated by 

EUR 4.6m. Of this amount, EUR 4.1m related to property and buildings and EUR 0.5m to other 

equipment, furniture and fittings. 

12.4 Investment Property 

The historical costs of investment property as at 1 January 2022 were restated by the 

amount of EUR 1.1m due to the application of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies for the financial statements of the Turkish subsidiary.  

13. Leases 

Right-of-use assets on the balance sheet are recognised in those balance sheet items 

in which the assets underlying the leases would also be presented.  

Within the first half of 2022 there were additions to right-of-use assets for property 

and buildings in an amount of EUR 87.8m. These mainly relate to the Logistics Centre Tyrol 

amounting to EUR 54.0m. The lease liabilities also increased correspondingly.  

14. Provisions 

Austrian Post adjusted the parameters of salary increases and the discount rate for in-

terest-bearing provisions against the backdrop of the general development of interest rates 

and the expected salary increases in the first half of 2022. 

The provisions for severance pay were determined on the basis of a weighted discount 

rate of 5.06 % (31 December 2021: 2.29 %) and a weighed salary increase of 5,85 %  

(31 December 2021: 4.70 %). The weighted discount rate for provisions for anniversary bonuses 

now equals 3.18 % (31 December 2021: 1.00 %). The calculation was based on a weighted salary 

increase of 4,21 %–4,70 % (31 December 2021: 3.48 %–3.97 %).  

The parameter adjustments including the effects from experience adjustments for pro-

visions for severance pay and anniversary bonuses led to an actuarial gain of EUR 25,6m in the 

first half of 2022, of which EUR 17,9.m was recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The range of the discount rates for provisions for underutilisation is now at  

0.75 %–3.00 % (31 December 2021: 0.00 %–1.00 %). The range of salary increases for provisions 

for underutilisation equals 4.00 % (31 December 2021: 2,75 %–3,25 %). The parameter adjust-

ments in the first half of 2022 resulted in a positive effect of EUR 15,5m, which was  

recognised under staff costs.  

15. Financial instruments 

This note contains an update of the assessments and estimates used by the Austrian 

Post Group in determining the fair value of financial instruments since the last consolidated an-

nual financial statements. 

15.1 Financial assets and liabilities  

The following tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities as at 

31 December 2021 and 30 June 2022 in accordance with the classification categories stipu-

lated in IFRS 9. 
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31 December 2021 

EUR m 

Recognised at
amortised

cost

At fair value
through OCI

(FVOCI) -
recycling

At fair value 
through OCI 
(FVOCI) - no 

recycling

At fair value
through profit

or loss
(FVTPL)

mandatory
Total at 

fair value Total

       

FINANCIAL ASSETS       

Financial assets from financial services 2,715.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 2,715.8

Cash, cash equivalents and central bank balances 1,218.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,218.2

Credits to clients 1,402.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,402.3

Mortgage loans 1,010.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,010.7

Consumer loans 385.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 385.4

Current accounts 6.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.2

Investments 73.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 73.5

Other clearing receivables 21.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 21.9

Other financial assets 10.0 0.4 5.6 20.9 27.0 37.0

Securities 0.0 0.4 0.0 19.9 20.4 20.4

Money market investments 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.0

Other stakes 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 5.6 5.6

Derivative financial assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

Trade receivables and other receivables 340.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 340.6

Trade receivables 303.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 303.8

Receivables from financial assets accounted for 

using the equity method 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8

Other receivables1 34.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 34.9

Cash and cash equivalents 85.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.8

TOTAL 3,152.1 0.5 5.6 20.9 27.1 3,179.2

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES       

Financial liabilities from financial services 2,543.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,543.5

Borrowings from banks 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3

Banking client’s deposits 2,532.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,532.9

Other clearing liabilities 8.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.3

Other financial liabilities 404.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 404.4

Borrowings from banks 70.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 70.7

Lease liabilities 333.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 333.7

Trade and other payables 362.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 362.7

Trade payables 237.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 237.2

Liabilities from obligation to acquire non-

controlling interests 45.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 45.9

Other liabilities2 79.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 79.6

TOTAL 3,310.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,310.6

1 Exklusive geleisteter Vorauszahlungen und Forderungen gegenüber Steuerbehörden und Sozialversicherungsträger*innen 
2 Exklusive erhaltener Vorauszahlungen und Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber Steuerbehörden und Sozialversicherungsträger*innen sowie nicht konsumierte Urlaube 
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30 June 2022 

EUR m 

Recognised at
amortised

cost

At fair value
through OCI

(FVOCI) -
recycling

At fair value 
through OCI 
(FVOCI) - no 

recycling

At fair value
through profit

or loss
(FVTPL)

mandatory
Total at 

fair value Total

       

FINANCIAL ASSETS       

Financial assets from financial services 2,958.8 0.0 0.0 35.4 35.4 2,994.3 

Cash, cash equivalents and central bank balances 1,120.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,120.6 

Receivables against banks 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients 1,440.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,440.2 

Mortgage loans 1,086.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,086.4 

Consumer loans 345.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 345.1 

Current accounts 8.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.7 

Investments 357.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 357.8 

Other receivables 10.2 0.0 0.0 35.4 35.4 45.6 

Positive market values from hedge accounting 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.4 35.4 35.4 

Other clearing receivables 10.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.2 

Other financial assets 55.0 0.4 5.6 18.0 24.0 79.0 

Securities 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.4 

Money market investments 55.0 0.0 0.0 18.0 18.0 73.0 

Other stakes 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.0 5.6 5.6 

Trade receivables and other receivables 324.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 324.7 

Trade receivables 281.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 281.7 

Receivables from financial assets accounted for 
using the equity method 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 

Other receivables1 42.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 42.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 53.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 53.4 

TOTAL 3,392.0 0.4 5.6 53.5 59.5 3,451.5 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES       

Financial liabilities from financial services 2,832.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5 2,833.0 

Borrowings from banks 77.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 77.6 

Banking client’s deposits 2,740.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,740.1 

Other liabilities 14.8 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5 15.3 

Negative market values from hedge accounting 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Other clearing liabilities 14.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.8 

Other financial liabilities 558.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 558.4 

Borrowings from banks 166.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 166.7 

Lease liabilities 391.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 391.6 

Trade and other payables 334.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 334.6 

Trade payables 206.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 206.9 

Liabilities from obligation to acquire non-

controlling interests 44.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 44.6 

Other liabilities2 83.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 83.0 

TOTAL 3,725.4 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5 3,725.9 

1 Excluding prepayments and receivables from tax authorities and social security carriers 
2 Excluding payments received in advance and liabilities to tax authorities and social security carriers as well as unused vacation 
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The result from the subsequent measurement of liabilities related to the obligation to 

acquire non-controlling interests amounted to plus EUR 1.2m in the first half of 2022, in which 

case income from the change in estimates for future results totalling EUR 13.4m is recognised 

in other operating income and the results from the foreign currency valuation of the liabilities, 

the inflation effects and the accrued interest effect of the liability to the amount of minus EUR 

12.3m are recognised in the financial result. 

15.2 Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value  

The following tables show financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 

2021 and 30 June 2022 in accordance with the levels of the fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13: 

31 December 2021 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

     

FINANCIAL ASSETS     

Financial assets from financial services 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Investments 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other financial assets 20.4 6.5 0.1 27.0

Securities 20.4 0.0 0.0 20.4

Other stakes 0.0 5.5 0.1 5.6

Derivative financial assets 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0

TOTAL 20.5 6.5 0.1 27.1

 

30 June 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

     

FINANCIAL ASSETS     

Financial assets from financial services 0.0 35.4 0.0 35.4 

Other receivables 0.0 35.4 0.0 35.4 

Positive market values from hedge accounting 0.0 35.4 0.0 35.4 

Other financial assets 0.4 23.5 0.1 24.0 

Securities 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4 

Money market investments 0.0 18.0 0.0 18.0 

Other stakes 0.0 5.5 0.1 5.6 

TOTAL 0.4 59.0 0.1 59.5 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     

Other liabilities 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.5 

Negative market values from hedge accounting 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.5 

TOTAL 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.5 

 

The fair value in Level 2 for other stakes relates to shares held in the Vienna Stock Ex-

change. The valuation of these shares is carried out by reference to the exit price on the basis 

of the existing syndicate agreement as well as regular index-based value adjustments. 
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The valuation of money markets investments classified as Level 2 took place on the ba-

sis of exchange rates and interest rate curves observable on the market. 

The valuation of market values from hedge accounting takes place by means of the net 

present value method (income approach). Accordingly, future payment flows are discounted on 

the valuation date taking account of interest rate curves and valuation premiums for similar as-

sets observable on the money market and capital market. In order to determine the fair value, 

an adjustment is made for counterparty default risk (credit value adjustment - CVA). This valua-

tion adjustment is determined by the expected positive exposure and by the probability of de-

fault by the counterparty. 

The Austrian Post Group recognises transfers among the various levels of the fair value 

hierarchy at the end of the reporting period in which the change took place. No transfers be-

tween Levels 1, 2 and 3 took place during the reporting period from 1 January 2022 to  

30 June 2022.  

The following table shows the reconciliation of Level 3 valuations at fair value of finan-

cial assets and liabilities for the periods between 1 January 2021 and 30 June 2021 as well as 

1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022: 

Financial Assets 

EUR m H1 2021 H1 2022

   

OPENING BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 5.4 0.1 

Transfers from Level 3 –5.3 0.0 

CLOSING BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 0.1 0.1 

 

15.3 Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value  

The fair values of the following financial assets as at 31 December 2021 and 30 June 

2022, taking account of the various levels in the fair value hierarchy of IFRS 13, are as follows:  



 

42

Half-year Financial Report _____ 2022 - Austrian Post 

31 December 2021 

EUR m Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 3

     

FINANCIAL ASSETS     

Credits to clients     

Mortgage loans 1,010.7 1,003.3 0.0 1,003.3

Consumer loans 385.4 389.8 0.0 389.8

Investments 73.4 72.2 72.2 0.0

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     

Liabilities from obligation to acquire non-controlling 

interests 45.9 37.2 0.0 37.2

30 June 2022 

EUR m Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 3

     

FINANCIAL ASSETS     

Receivables against banks 30.0 30.3 0.0 30.3

Credits to clients     

Mortgage loans 1,086.4 1,111.0 0.0 1,111.0

Consumer loans 345.1 405.6 0.0 405.6

Investments 357.8 330.9 330.9 0.0

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     

Liabilities from obligation to acquire non-controlling 

interests 44.6 30.7 0.0 30.7

 

The fair value of the financial assets listed in this table (Level 3) is determined using the 

present value method, taking into consideration credit risks and currently observable market 

data on interest rates. 

The increase in the fair value of consumer loans is mainly attributable to the currently 

high projected interest rate curves used for determining the fair values. 

The calculation of the fair value of the liabilities resulting from purchase obligations of 

non-controlling interests is based on current earnings projections, the current EUR/TRY ex-

change rate and an updated WACC as the discount rate. 

In the case of all other financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair 

value, it is assumed that the fair values correspond to the carrying amounts due to the primar-

ily short-term nature of these items. 

15.4 Hedge Accounting 

Starting in the 2022 financial year, credit risks relating to fixed-interest mortgage loans 

are hedged by Austrian Post with interest rate derivatives (interest swaps). The derivatives are 

concluded in EUR with Austrian financial institutions based on the Austrian Master Agreement 

for Financial Derivative Transactions (including the hedging attachment).  

For fixed-interest financial instruments a market price risk arises from the change in 

the relevant reference interest curve. Within the context of managing the market risk the inter-

est rate risk is monitored and controlled. With the use of interest rate derivatives as hedging 

instruments, the fixed interest of the hedged item is transformed into a variable interest rate 

linked to the reference interest rate.  
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The interest rate derivative designated as a hedging instrument thereby represents an 

economic relationship with the interest rate risk components of the hedged item. The risk com-

ponents not related to the interest rate (such as credit spreads) are not part of the hedge rela-

tionship. The hedged item and the hedging instrument are so designed that the relevant valua-

tion parameters are essentially the same. Opposing effects are only recognised to the extent 

that there is an economic relationship, without generating volatility in the income statement. 

Furthermore, the underlying risk of the derivative is identical to the hedged risk components.  

The Austrian Post Group makes use of bottom layer hedges to hedge interest rate risks. 

The hedging ratio is 1:1. For fixed-interest mortgage loans, grouped into maturities and fixed 

interest rates, a bottom layer is designated as base amount in the hedge relationship, taking 

into account that there is a high probability that this base amount is still existing at the ma-

turity of the hedging instrument considering expected and premature repayments. In applying 

this approach, premature repayments, derecognitions and impairment losses are always as-

signed to the unhedged amount, which is above the defined base amount. This means that 

these amounts do not affect the effectiveness of the hedge relationships unless they reach the 

defined bottom layer threshold.  

To assess the effectiveness of the hedge relationship, the change in the fair value of the 

hedged risk of the hedged item is determined using hypothetical derivatives, which essentially 

correspond to the contractual conditions of the hedging instrument. The calculation of the pre-

sent value for the effectiveness test takes place in accordance with internal Group guidelines 

on hedge accounting using the dollar offset method and regression analysis. Effectiveness is 

deemed to exist when the changes in the fair value of the hedged risk compensate for the 

changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument in a range of 80 % to 125 %. 

The hedge relationship can turn out to be ineffective if the nominal value of the hedged 

item is below that of the derivative. If a hedge relationship is no longer effective, the effective-

ness must be rebuilt with rebalancing. In the 2022 financial year no rebalancing has taken 

place.  

The following table shows the nominal amounts of the hedging instruments grouped ac-

cording to their remaining maturities: 

30 June 2022 

EUR m <3 months
>3 months within 1

year
>1 year within 5 

years >5 years Nominal

      

ASSETS      

Interest rate derivative – Mortgage loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 265.0 265.0

 

The positive market value of the hedging instruments amounts to EUR 35.4m as at 30 

June 2022 and is recognized under the financial assets from financial services. The negative 

market value of the hedging instruments amounts to EUR 0.4m as at 30 June 2022 and is rec-

ognized under the financial liabilities from financial services. 

The carrying amounts and the recognised adjustments (basis adjustments) of the 

hedged items are as follows: 
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30 June 2022 

EUR m 
Carrying amount of

hedged item

Basis adjustments 
included in the carrying 

amount

   

ASSETS   

Mortgage loans 655.6 –35.0

 

The following table shows the effects of hedge relationships on the consolidated income 

statement:  

30 June 2022 

EUR m Results of hedged items
Result of hedging 

instruments
Result of hedge

relationship

    

ASSETS    

Hedge relationship – Mortgage loans –35.0 35.0 0.0

 

The value fluctuations of the hedged items are essentially compensated by the value 

fluctuations of the hedging instruments. Accordingly, there is an insignificant ineffectiveness, 

which is recognised under other operating expenses. 

15.5 Regulatory Risk Requirements 

Due to its business operations in the field of banking, bank99 is also subject to addi-

tional requirements on the part of the banking supervisory authority concerning risk manage-

ment. A separate risk management system was established for this purpose which correspond-

ingly controls and monitors risks arising from the banking business.  

Reference is made to the disclosures contained in the Annual Report 2021 in connec-

tion with the risk policy and strategy as well as the organisation of risk management. Updates 

are described below.  

15.5.1 CREDIT RISK 

Credit risk-relevant portfolio The credit risk-relevant portfolio encompasses all items 

which involve a credit risk in the narrower sense of the term. This includes both on-balance 

sheet and off-balance sheet items. The credit risk-relevant portfolio as at 30 June 2022 is as 

follows:  
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Credit Risk-Relevant Portfolio as at 31 December 2022 

EUR m Credit risk exposure Impairment losses

Net carrying
amount

    

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO    

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 1,082.8 0.0 1,082.8

Credits to clients    

Mortgage loans 1,011.4 –0.7 1,010.7

Consumer loans 390.0 –4.6 385.4

Current accounts 6.5 –0.3 6.2

Investments    

Recognised at amortised cost 73.4 0.0 73.4

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 0.1 0.0 0.1

Other clearing receivables 13.9 0.0 13.9

SUBTOTAL 2,578.1 –5.7 2,572.4

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS    

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 2.1 0.0 2.1

Loan commitments 48.7 0.0 48.7

SUBTOTAL 50.8 0.0 50.8

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO BANK99 2,628.9 –5.7 2,623.2

Credit Risk-Relevant Portfolio as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Credit risk exposure Impairment losses

Net carrying
amount

    

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO    

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 923.7 0.0 923.7 

Receivables against banks 30.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients    

Mortgage loans 1,087.3 –1.0 1,086.4 

Consumer loans 352.3 –7.2 345.1 

Current accounts 9.4 –0.7 8.7 

Investments    

Recognised at amortised cost 357.8 0.0 357.8 

Other clearing receivables 1.5 0.0 1.5 

SUBTOTAL 2,762.1 –8.8 2,753.2 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS    

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 1.9 0.0 1.9 

Loan commitments 78.9 0.0 78.9 

SUBTOTAL 80.9 0.0 80.8 

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO BANK99 2,842.9 –8.9 2,834.0 

 

Other receivables from postal partners which are in connection with PSK bank transfers 

are not taken into account in the presentation of the credit risk-related portfolio. These receiv-

ables are recognised by the parent company Österreichische Post AG. For this reason, no dis-

closures are made within the context of regulatory risk requirements. 

The investments are primarily for the purpose of controlling liquidity and consist of Aus-

trian and European public sector bonds. Further investments were made in public sector bonds 
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in the first half of 2022. In turn, this led to an increase in investments to EUR 357.8m (31 De-

cember 2021: EUR 73.5m) as at 30 June 2022. Furthermore, term deposits totalling  

EUR 30.0m (31 December 2021: EUR 0.0m) were made with Austrian financial institutions. 

Off-balance sheet risk items mainly consist of credit commitments for mortgage loans.  

The credit risk-related portfolio by client segments is as follows:  

Credit Risk Volume by Client Segment as at 31 December 2021 

EUR m Retail customers
Financial 

institutions Public sector

Total credit
risk exposure

     

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO     

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 0.0 1,082.8 0.0 1,082.8

Credits to clients     

Mortgage loans 1,011.4 0.0 0.0 1,011.4

Consumer loans 390.0 0.0 0.0 390.0

Current accounts 6.5 0.0 0.0 6.5

Investments     

Recognised at amortised cost 0.0 0.0 73.4 73.4

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1

Other clearing receivables 0.1 13.7 0.0 13.9

SUBTOTAL 1,408.1 1,096.6 73.4 2,578.1

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS     

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 2.1 0.0 0.0 2.1

Loan commitments 48.7 0.0 0.0 48.7

SUBTOTAL 50.8 0.0 0.0 50.8

TOTAL 1,458.9 1,097.2 73.4 2,628.9

Credit Risk Volume by Client Segment as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Retail customers
Financial 

institutions Public sector

Total credit
risk exposure

     

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO     

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 0.0 923.7 0.0 923.7 

Receivables against banks 0.0 30.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients     

Mortgage loans 1,087.3 0.0 0.0 1,087.3 

Consumer loans 352.3 0.0 0.0 352.3 

Current accounts 9.4 0.0 0.0 9.4 

Investments      

Recognised at amortised cost 0.0 0.0 357.8 357.8 

Other clearing receivables 0.4 1.1 0.0 1.5 

SUBTOTAL 1,449.5 954.8 357.8 2,762.1 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS     

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 1.9 0.0 0.0 1.9 

Loan commitments 78.9 0.0 0.0 78.9 

SUBTOTAL 80.9 0.0 0.0 80.9 

TOTAL 1,530.4 954.8 357.8 2,842.9 
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An automated payment reminder process has been established for all banking transac-

tions, which begins on the first day after the due date. In turn, this resulted in the following 

breakdown of credit volumes by days overdue:  

Credit Risk Volume by Days Overdue as at 31 December 2021 

EUR m Not overdue 1–30 days 31–90 days > 90 days

Total credit 
risk exposure

      

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT 

PORTFOLIO      

Central bank balances and other 

sight deposits 1,082.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,082.8

Credits to clients      

Mortgage loans 1,011.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,011.4

Consumer loans 382.7 2.4 2.1 2.8 390.0

Current accounts 5.7 0.3 0.2 0.4 6.5

Investments      

Recognised at amortised cost 73.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 73.4

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other clearing receivables 13.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.9

SUBTOTAL 2,569.9 2.7 2.3 3.2 2,578.1

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS      

Liabilities from financial guarantee 

contracts 2.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1

Loan commitments 48.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 48.7

SUBTOTAL 50.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.8

TOTAL 2,620.7 2.7 2.3 3.2 2,628.9
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Credit risk Volume by Days Overdue as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Not overdue 1–30 days 31–90 days > 90 days

Total credit 
risk exposure

      

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT 

PORTFOLIO      

Central bank balances and other 

sight deposits 923.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 923.7 

Receivables against banks 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients      

Mortgage loans 1,087.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 1,087.3 

Consumer loans 342.4 3.4 2.2 4.3 352.3 

Current accounts 8.3 0.1 0.2 0.7 9.4 

Investments       

Recognised at amortised cost 357.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 357.8 

Other clearing receivables 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 

SUBTOTAL 2,750.8 3.5 2.6 5.2 2,762.1 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS      

Liabilities from financial guarantee 

contracts 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 

Loan commitments 78.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 78.9 

SUBTOTAL 80.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 80.9 

TOTAL 2,831.6 3.5 2.6 5.2 2,842.9 

 

The client rating consists of five rating categories 1–5 which are shown in the tables be-

low. The five rating categories are broken down further into five subcategories, A–E. This means 

that clients are assigned to a total of 25 rating categories. All transactions in rating category 5 

are non-performing transactions. The watch-loan portfolio is assigned to category 4. 
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Credit Risk Volume by Rating Category as at 31 December 2021 

EUR m Rating 1 Rating 2 Rating 3 Rating 4 Rating 5 No Rating

Total credit 
risk exposure

       

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO        

Central bank balances and other sight 

deposits 1,070.0 12.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,082.8

Credits to clients        

Mortgage loans 0.0 0.0 1,007.5 3.3 0.5 0.0 1,011.4

Consumer loans 0.0 0.0 363.0 22.3 4.6 0.0 390.0

Current accounts 0.0 0.0 4.9 1.1 0.5 0.1 6.5

Investments        

Recognised at amortised cost 73.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 73.4

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other clearing receivables 0.0 13.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 13.9

SUBTOTAL 1,143.4 26.2 1,375.5 26.8 5.6 0.6 2,578.1

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS        

Liabilities from financial guarantee 

contracts 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.8 0.0 0.1 2.1

Loan commitments 0.0 0.0 48.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 48.7

SUBTOTAL 0.0 0.0 49.3 1.4 0.0 0.1 50.8

TOTAL 1,143.4 26.2 1,424.8 28.2 5.6 0.6 2,628.9

 

Credit Risk Volume by Rating Category as at 30 June 2022  

EUR m Rating 1 Rating 2 Rating 3 Rating 4 Rating 5 No Rating 

Total credit
risk exposure

        

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO         

Central bank balances and other sight 

deposits 900.8 22.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 923.7 

Receivables against banks 0.0 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients          

Mortgage loans 0.0 0.0 1,080.6 5.9 0.8 0.0 1,087.3 

Consumer loans 0.0 0.0 324.7 21.1 6.5 0.0 352.3 

Current accounts 0.0 0.0 7.1 1.4 0.8 0.1 9.4 

Investments         

Recognised at amortised cost 337.3 20.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 357.8 

Other clearing receivables 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.5 

SUBTOTAL 1,238.1 73.9 1,412.4 28.4 8.1 1.0 2,762.1 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS         

Liabilities from financial guarantee 

contracts 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 1.9 

Loan commitments 0.0 0.0 78.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 78.9 

SUBTOTAL 0.0 0.0 80.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 80.9 

TOTAL 1,238.1 73.9 1,492.5 29.2 8.1 1.1 2,842.9 
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A breakdown of the credit volume according to the stages stipulated in IFRS 9 is as fol-

lows:  

Credit Risk Volume According to IFRS 9 Stage Allocation as at 31 December 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI

Gross 
carrying 

amount total

      

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO       

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 1,082.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,082.8

Credits to clients       

Mortgage loans 1,009.6 1.3 0.0 0.5 1,011.4

Consumer loans 381.2 4.2 0.6 4.0 390.0

Current accounts 5.0 1.1 0.2 0.2 6.5

Investments       

Recognised at amortised cost 73.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 73.4

At fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Other clearing receivables 13.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.9

SUBTOTAL 2,565.9 6.6 0.9 4.8 2,578.1

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS       

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 2.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.1

Loan commitments 48.2 0.4 0.0 0.0 48.7

SUBTOTAL 50.3 0.5 0.0 0.0 50.8

TOTAL 2,616.2 7.1 0.9 4.8 2,628.9

 

Credit Risk Volume According to IFRS 9 Stage Allocation as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI

Gross 
carrying 

amount total

     

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO       

Central bank balances and other sight deposits 923.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 923.7 

Receivables against banks 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.0 

Credits to clients       

Mortgage loans 1,080.3 6.2 0.5 0.3 1,087.3 

Consumer loans 330.7 15.0 4.0 2.6 352.3 

Current accounts 6.8 1.8 0.7 0.2 9.4 

Investments       

Recognised at amortised cost 357.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 357.8 

Other clearing receivables 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 

SUBTOTAL 2,730.9 22.9 5.2 3.0 2,762.1 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS       

Liabilities from financial guarantee contracts 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 

Loan commitments 78.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 78.9 

SUBTOTAL 80.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 80.9 

TOTAL 2,811.5 23.2 5.2 3.0 2,842.9 
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Assets designated as purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) represent financial 

assets which already show an impaired creditworthiness at the time of their addition.  

The credit risk-relevant portfolio by rating category and default risk categories pursu-

ant to IFRS 9 can be summarised as follows: 

Credit Risk Volume by Rating Category and Default Risk Category as at 31 December 2021 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI

Gross carrying
amount total

      

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO      

Rating 1 1,143.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,143.4

Rating 2 26.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 26.2

Rating 3 1,422.2 2.6 0.0 0.0 1,424.8

Rating 4 23.9 4.3 0.0 0.0 28.2

Rating 5 0.0 0.0 0.9 4.8 5.6

No Rating 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.6

TOTAL 2,616.2 7.1 0.9 4.8 2,628.9

Credit Risk Volume by Rating Category and Default Risk Category as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI

Gross carrying
amount total

      

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO      

Rating 1 1,238.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,238.1 

Rating 2 73.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 73.9 

Rating 3 1,486.5 5.9 0.1 0.0 1,492.5 

Rating 4 12.0 17.2 0.0 0.0 29.2 

Rating 5 0.0 0.0 5.1 3.0 8.1 

No Rating 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 

TOTAL 2,811.5 23.2 5.2 3.0 2,842.9 

 

Collateral Collateral is only taken into account for mortgage loans as well as credit risks 

relating to loan commitments which have not yet been drawn on. The following collateral in the 

form of mortgages was taken into account in the assessment of the credit risk: 
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Collateral as at 31 December 2021 

EUR m Mortgage Total

   

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO   

Credits to clients   

Mortgage loans 989.7 989.7

SUBTOTAL 989.7 989.7

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS   

Loan commitments 47.9 47.9

SUBTOTAL 47.9 47.9

TOTAL 1,037.6 1,037.6

 

Collateral as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Mortgage Total

   

CREDIT RISK-RELEVANT PORTFOLIO   

Credits to clients    

Mortgage loans 1,093.9 1,093.9 

SUBTOTAL 1,093.9 1,093.9 

OFF-BALANCE ITEMS   

Loan commitments 77.1 77.1 

SUBTOTAL 77.1 77.1 

TOTAL 1,171.0 1,171.0 

 

Contract modifications Deferrals of loan repayments as well as contract extensions 

were granted in the first half of 2022. The resulting changes in present value were immaterial.  

Non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio As at 30 June 2022, the non-performing 

credit risk-relevant portfolio equalled EUR 8.2m (31 December 2021: EUR 5.6m) and relates 

primarily to consumer loans. In turn, this results in a non-performing exposure (NPE) ratio de-

fined as the share of the non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio in relation to the total 

credit risk-relevant portfolio, which amounted to 0.3 % (31 December 2021: 0.2 %). The NPE col-

lateralisation ratio, showing collateral for the non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio as a 

percentage of the total non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio, equalled 9.5 % as at 30 

June 2022 (31 December 2021: 8.8 %). The NPE coverage ratio, which shows the impairment 

losses for the non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio as a percentage of the total volume 

of the non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio, equalled 26.1 % as at 30 June 2022 (31 De-

cember 2021: 8.7 %). The increase in the NPE coverage ratio results from an increase in risk 

provisions for the non-performing credit risk-relevant portfolio which can be attributed to the 

portfolio of ING DiBa acquired in December 2021.  

Risk provisions The following table shows the development of risk provisions for the 

credit risk-relevant portfolio in the first half of 2022. There is no presentation for the compara-

ble first half-year period in 2021 due to the immateriality of the corresponding amounts.  
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Development of Risk Provisions - Credit Risk-Relevant Portfolio as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

      

BALANCE AS AT 1. JAN. 2022 3.7 1.5 0.7 –0.2 5.7 

Reclassification 0.1 –1.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 

Additions new acquisitions 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Revaluation –1.2 3.5 2.0 –1.2 3.1 

BALANCE AS AT 30. JUNE 2022 2.7 4.0 3.6 –1.5 8.9 

 

For financial assets that are purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI), the ex-

pected credit losses over the term are initially recognised in the credit-adjusted effective inter-

est rate. This is why no impairment loss is recognised to begin with. Changes in expected credit 

losses based on cash flow estimates are then recognised in either negative or positive terms in 

risk provisions through profit or loss. 

The development in material risk provisions, divided in the individual classes of financial 

instruments, is as follows (there is also no presentation of the comparable figures in the first 

half of 2021 due to the immateriality of the amounts):  

Development in Risk Provisions – Consumer Loans as at 30 June 2022  

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

      

BALANCE AS AT 1. JAN. 2022 2.9 1.4 0.5 –0.2 4.6 

Reclassification 0.1 –0.9 0.9 0.0 0.0 

Revaluation –1.2 3.2 1.7 –1.2 2.6 

BALANCE AS AT 30. JUNE 2022 1.8 3.7 3.1 –1.4 7.2 

Development of Risk Provisions – Mortgage Loans as at 30 June 2022 

EUR m Level 1 Level 2 Total

    

BALANCE AS AT 1. JAN. 2022 0.6 0.1 0.7 

Additions new acquisitions 0.1 0.0 0.1 

Revaluation 0.0 0.2 0.2 

BALANCE AS AT 30. JUNE 2022 0.7 0.3 1.0 

 

15.5.2 LIQUIDITY RISK 

The liquidity coverage ratio as well as the liquidity buffer of bank99 are as follows: 
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Liquidity Coverage Ratio 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

Liquidity buffer 1,279.7 1,404.0 

Net outflow of liquidity 142.0 185.5 

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO 901.4 % 756.9 % 

 

Composition of the Liquidity Buffer 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

Central bank balances less minimum reserve 1,062.3 873.7 

Cash 145.0 198.6 

Eligible investments 72.5 331.7 

LIQUIDITY BUFFER 1,279.7 1,404.0 

 

15.5.3 MARKET RISK 

In order to limit the risks relating to rising interest rates, a large proportion of the fixed-

interest items were hedged by concluding interest rate swaps in the first half of 2022. There is 

no major risk derived from rising interest rates thanks to the ongoing hedging of new busi-

nesses. Reference is made to Note 15.4 Hedge Accounting. 

16. Regulatory Capital Requirements 

bank99 AG is subject to regulatory capital requirements on the part of the banking su-

pervisory authority as stipulated in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), EU 575/2013, 

taking account of several amendments. 

The equity calculated according to the Capital Requirements Regulation is comprised of 

the following: 
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Own Funds Attributable to bank99 AG Pursuant to CRR 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

Paid-in capital 100.9 100.9 

Disclosed reserves 137.7 151.3 

Retained earnings –56.0 –73.5 

Annual loss –17.5 –19.9 

Less deduction items –15.0 –18.6 

CORE CAPITAL 150.1 140.2 

Eligible supplementary capital 0.0 0.0 

TOTAL OWN FUNDS 150.1 140.2 

Capital Requirements for bank99 AG Pursuant to CRR 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

Credit risk 719.3 729.2 

Adjustment of Credit value 0.0 7.4 

Operational risk 19.4 19.4 

TOTAL CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 738.7 756.0 

Core capital ratio based on total risk 20.3 % 18.5 % 

Total own funds ratio based on total risk 20.3 % 18.5 % 

 

The capital ratios were significantly higher than the regulatory required throughout the 

entire first half of 2022. In measuring the total capital requirement for the first half of 2022, 

additional own funds totalling EUR 7.4m (31 December 2021: EUR 0.0m) had to be taken into 

consideration. This is attributable to the credit value adjustments (CVA) relating to the hedging 

derivatives. 
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17. Information on the Cash Flow Statement 

The reconciliation of the cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated cash 

flow statement to the cash and cash equivalents as shown in the consolidated balance sheet 

can be carried out as follows: 

EUR m 31 December 2021 30 June 2022

   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT) 1,304.1 1,174.1 

Financial assets from financial services 1,218.2 1,120.7 

Cash, cash equivalents and central bank balances 1,218.2 1,120.7 

Impairment losses on receivables due from banks 0.1 0.1 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET) 85.8 53.4 

18. Other Disclosures 

The Annual General Meeting of Austrian Post held on 21 April 2022 resolved to distrib-

ute a dividend equalling to EUR 128.4m, corresponding to EUR 1.90 per share. The dividend 

payment to shareholders in the amount of EUR 111.7m took place on 5 May 2022. The retained 

capital gains tax of EUR 16.6m was remitted in May 2022 to the tax authorities. 

Furthermore, the Management Board was authorised, pursuant to Section 65 Para. 1 (4) 

and (8) as well as Para. 1a and 1b Austrian Stock Corporation Act, to acquire non-par value 

bearer or registered shares of the company in an amount up to 10 % of the company’s share 

capital during the period from 1 May 2022 to 31 October 2024, especially from  

Österreichische Beteiligungs AG. The shares to be acquired are to be at a lowest equivalent 

value of EUR 20.00 per share and the highest equivalent value of EUR 60.00 per share. 

Österreichische Post AG has agreed in a letter of comfort to provide bank99 AG, under 

certain conditions, with equity capital in an amount up to EUR 74.5m by the end of 2026 (31 

December 2021: EUR 88.1m). 

19. Events After the Reporting Period 

Events after the reporting period that are material for accounting and assessment on 

the balance sheet date as at 30 June 2022 are included in the consolidated interim financial 

statements. No reportable events occurred after the reporting period. 

 

 

Vienna, 2 August 2022 

 

The Management Board 

 

  

 
 

 
GEORG PÖLZL 

CEO 

Chairman of the 

Management Board 

WALTER OBLIN 

Deputy CEO 

Mail & Finance (CFO) 

 

PETER UMUNDUM 

Member of the  

Management Board 

Parcel & Logistics (COO) 
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Statement of Legal Representatives

As the legal representatives of Österreichische Post AG, we declare, to the best of our 

knowledge, that the condensed consolidated interim financial statements as at 30 June 2022, 

which were prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standards, present a 

fair and accurate picture of the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group, and that 

the Group management report for the first half year 2022 presents the business performance, 

results and situation of the Group such that a fair and accurate picture of the assets, financial 

and earnings position of the Group with respect to the most important events occurring during 

the first six months of the financial year and its impacts on the condensed consolidated interim 

financial statements as at 30 June 2022 and also describes the fundamental risks and uncer-

tainties to which the Group is exposed for the remaining six months of the financial year and of 

the major related party transactions to be disclosed. 

 

 

Vienna, 2 August 2022 

 

The Management Board 

 

  

 
 

 
GEORG PÖLZL 

CEO 

Chairman of the 

Management Board 

WALTER OBLIN 

Deputy CEO 

Mail & Finance (CFO) 

 

PETER UMUNDUM 

Member of the  

Management Board 

Parcel & Logistics (COO) 

 

Statement of Legal Representatives 
Pursuant to Section 125 (1) 
Austrian Stock Exchange Act  
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Financial Calendar 2022/2023     
  

11 November 2022 Interim report for the first three quarters 2022, publication: 07.30–07.40 a.m. CET 

15 March 2023 Annual Report 2022, publication: 07.30–07.40 a.m. CET 

20 April 2023 Annual General Meeting 2023, Vienna  

02 May 2023 Ex-date (dividend) 

03 May 2023 Record date (determination of entitled stocks in connection with dividend payments) 

04 May 2023 Dividend payment day 

12 May 2023 Interim report for the first quarter 2023, publication: 07.30-07.40 a.m. CET 

10 August 2023 Half-year Report 2023, publication: 07.30-07.40 a.m. CET 

16 November 2023 Interim report for the first three quarters 2023, publication: 07.30–07.40 a.m. CET 
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This Financial Report also contains forward-looking 

statements based on the information currently available 

to us. These are usually indicated by expressions such as  

“expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “plan” or “calculate”. We 

wish to note that a wide variety of factors could cause  

actual circumstances – and thus actual results – to devi-

ate from the forecasts contained in this report.  

 

This Financial Report is also available in German. In case 
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